UNIVERSITÄTSKLINIKUM HAMBURG-EPPENDORF

Zentrum für Geburtshilfe, Kinder- und Jugendmedizin Klinik und Poliklinik für Geburtshilfe und Pränatalmedizin Labor für Experimentelle Feto-Maternale Medizin

Prof. Dr. Petra C. Arck

Investigating the effect of sex hormones on sexual dimorphism in the lung tissue microenvironment

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg.

vorgelegt von:

Ioannis Belios aus Athen (Griechenland)

Hamburg 2023

(wird von der Medizinischen Fakultät ausgefüllt)

Angenommen von der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg am: 09.04.2024

Veröffentlicht mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg.

Prüfungsausschuss, der/die Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Hanna Lotter

Prüfungsausschuss, zweite/r Gutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Petra Arck

Table of contents

1. Introduction	5
1.1 Sex differences in lung diseases	5
1.2 Tissue resident immunity in lung health and disease	7
1.3 The role of the respiratory epithelial barrier in lung diseases	13
1.4 The role of sex hormones in lung diseases	16
1.5 Hypothesis and Objectives of the current dissertation	18
2. Materials and Methods	19
2.1 Materials	
2.1.1 Chemicals	19
2.1.2 Media, Buffers and solutions	20
2.1.3 Plastic and other Materials	21
2.1.4 Antibodies	22
2.1.5 Equipment and instruments	23
2.1.6 Software	24
2.1.7 Mice	24
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Ovariectomy and Castration	25
2.2.2 Testosterone administration to female mice	26
2.2.3 In vivo staining	26
2.2.4 Tissue collection	27
2.2.5 Single cell isolation from mouse organs	27
2.2.6 Flow Cytometry	27
2.2.7 Histology	32
2.2.8 Immunofluorescence staining	33
2.2.9 Histological analysis	33
2.2.10 Statistics	34
3. Results	35
3.1 Sex differences in lung resident immunity in naïve mice	35
3.2 The effect of sex hormones on lung resident immunity	37
3.3 The effect of sex hormones on the airway epithelial barrier	39
3.4 Effect of testosterone on lung resident immunity in female mice	42

5. Summary	49
6. Abbreviations	51
7. References	53
8. Acknowledgement	70
9. Curriculum Vitae	71
10. Affidavit	74

1. Introduction

1.1 Sex differences in lung diseases

Lung diseases are one of the top three global causes of death, in low-, middle-, and highincome countries, according to the World's Health Organization (WHO). Sex differences in the prevalence, manifestation, outcome, morbidity and mortality of all lung diseases are widely acknowledged [1]. This can be easily observed in every day clinical practice, with women having a significantly higher incidence of respiratory symptoms, leading them to visit their General Practitioner [2]. Concerning the recent novel Corona Virus Disease (COVID-19) pandemic, even if the prevalence of COVID-19 is the same between men and women, men seem to have higher risk of worse outcome and mortality [3]. In some lung diseases, female sex is predominantly affected, while in others male is, a bias which is affected by many factors, including age. It is important here to be mentioned that sex refers to the biological effect of sex hormones, chromosomes, reproductive organs etc., while the term gender contains the behavioural aspect of every individual and the common characteristics of social life, that individuals with same gender follow [4]. Both of them have been suggested to have an effect on different diseases [4].

Sex differences are manifested in all obstructive lung diseases, e.g., with regard to asthma (Figure 1). Asthma is an inflammatory disease of the airways, which is characterized by exaggerated airway narrowing and results in expiratory airflow limitation, with main symptoms being wheezing and dyspnoea [5]. It is more prevalent in males until puberty, and then during adulthood there is a clear female predominance [6-8]. Furthermore, the severity of asthma has been suggested to change during both the different phases of the menstrual cycle [9] and pregnancy [10], indicating an effect of the different sex hormones' levels on the disease. In addition to asthma, the other typical example of respiratory obstructive diseases is Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). COPD is characterized by persistent respiratory symptoms and airflow limitation, due to airway and/or alveolar abnormalities usually caused by significant exposure to noxious particles or gases [11]. The prevalence of COPD is now almost equal in men and women [11]. However, there is a significantly higher burden of COPD in women with higher rate of annual moderate or severe exacerbations [12]. Women also develop COPD symptoms in a younger age [13]. In the last report of the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD), it is clearly mentioned that further research is needed to shed light on the disease's sex bias [11]. Another obstructive lung disease is bronchiectasis, which is defined as an abnormal permanent dilation of the bronchi resulting from inflammation and destructive changes of the bronchial wall, caused by many different underlying diseases [14]. The prevalence of bronchiectasis, not due to Cystic Fibrosis (CF), in Europe and USA is higher in women, across all ages [15,16]. This can be explained due to the fact that many diseases, which cause bronchiectasis, are more common in women. However, in India, men seem to have higher prevalence of bronchiectasis, as there men have also higher incidence of tuberculosis [15]. CF is an autosomal genetic disorder, caused by mutations in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene, which affect multiple organs, but mainly the lung [17]. As an autosomal inherent disease, CF prevalence is equal between boys and girls. However, the median survival of women is lower than men [18]. Apart from obstructive diseases, sex differences are also observed in almost all other lung diseases (Figure 1). Interstitial lung diseases (ILD) are a big complex group of disorders with the most common of them being Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (IPF). IPF is characterized by progressive interstitial fibrosis and IPF prevalence and mortality are higher in men [19]. Sarcoidosis is another well-studied systematic inflammatory autoimmune disease, which most commonly affects lungs by the development of non-caseating granulomas. Regarding this disease, the prevalence is slightly higher in women [20]. The higher incidence of autoimmune diseases seen in women leads also to higher prevalence of ILDs related to connective tissue disorders [21]. A special type of such a disease is Interstitial Pneumonia with Autoimmune Features (IPAF), which also affects more commonly women [22]. Pulmonary Hypertension is the result of many different disorders and the typical finding in this condition is the elevated blood pressure in the pulmonary artery. In this disease, even if prevalence is significantly greater in females, worse disease outcomes and mortality are greater in men, a phenomenon called 'oestrogen paradox' [23]. As far as lung cancer is concerned, it seems that women are more susceptible to lung cancer development after smoking, at every level of exposure to cigarette [24,25]. Data from the Center for Disease Control and Prevention of U.S.A (CDC) from 2019 show higher incidence and mortality of lung cancer in men, which is expected as still the prevalence of smoking, in total, is greater in men [26]. Of note, patients who are not smokers and are diagnosed with lung cancer, are more likely to be females [27]. Men smokers seem to manifest more frequently squamous cell carcinoma, while women manifest more often adenocarcinoma [28].

Sex-specific susceptibility to respiratory infections varies among pathogens (Figure 1). Adult women, especially in reproductive age, experience worse outcomes and higher mortality during influenza infections [29], while in infants and children the predominance differs between different countries[30,31]. We now know that men are more susceptible to COVID-19, as the hospitalization, the admission to the Intensive Care Unit, the morbidity and mortality are 1,5 – 2 fold higher in men, even though the incidence of the disease seems to be similar between the two sexes [3,32,33]. Community acquired Pneumonia, which is mainly caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, affects also predominantly men, with worse outcomes of the

disease and higher mortality[34]. Sex differences in the lung diseases mentioned above are presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Sex differences in lung diseases.

1.2 Tissue resident immunity in lung health and disease

The lung is one of the largest interfaces of the human body to the external environment, and thus the existence of multiple mechanisms coping with external insults is essential. The lung tissue microenvironment plays a very important role in sustaining homeostasis and it consists of the respiratory epithelium and a network of non-circulating immune cells, which reside in the lung [35]. Specific populations of both adaptive and innate immune cells frame tissue resident immunity and they are able to respond quickly and effectively to any invading pathogens. [36]. These cells "break" the limit between innate and adaptive immunity, having many functions both during the acute phase of the inflammation and later by acting as immune surveillance cells. However, there is increasing evidence that suggests the involvement of disrupted tissue-resident immunity in the development of diseases. [37,38]. Below, I will briefly go through every important lung tissue resident immune cell population separately.

Macrophages

Alveolar (AM) and interstitial (IM) macrophages [37] are the two resident lung-specific macrophages population. AM are the main resident macrophage population in the lung and they are situated inside the alveoli [39]. This means that they are constantly exposed to external stimuli. On the other hand, IM are fewer in number and can be found within the lung tissue. AM have a close interaction with the respiratory epithelium and play a crucial role in eliminating invading pathogens and other particles by engulfing them through phagocytosis [37]. AMs' function has been studied in different lung diseases. The significance of AM becomes evident in viral respiratory infections, as depleting them during influenza or respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection results in higher levels of the virus in the lungs and a more severe disease outcome [40-42]. During a viral infection, alveolar macrophages primarily contribute by producing type I IFN, which promotes the recruitment of monocytes to the lungs and helps control viral replication [43]. However, during SARS-CoV-2 infection, AMs seem to contribute to the SARS-CoV-2-associated "cytokine storm" and to the progression to acute respiratory distress syndrome [44,45]. Additionally, during this infection, IFN is produced in lower levels than in other viral infections [46]. As far as bacterial infections are concerned, AMs recognise bacteria through Toll Like Receptors (TLRs) [47] and, through phagocytosis followed by their apoptosis, they eliminate the pathogen. Essential in this process is the function of the AMs' phagosome, which produces reactive oxygen and nitrogen species to damage the pathogen [48]. Also, after bacteria's recognition, AM secrete many proinflammatory cytokines [49]. Not only they effectively eliminate the invading pathogen, but also, they play a crucial role in resolving inflammation and promoting tissue repair. They achieve this by releasing anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-10 and IL-1ra and by removing dead cells and their inflammatory remnants through a process called AM-mediated efferocytosis [50,51]. The facts that IM in lung are significantly increased after influenza infection and that they express MHCII during bacterial pneumonia, indicate a potential role of these cells in coping with the invading pathogens [52]. AMs have been found to play a significant role in asthma. AM depletion worsens allergic airway inflammation (AAI) in mice [53]. It seems that in asthma patients, the more impaired the phagocytotic and efferocytotic capacity of AMs, the more severe the inflammation and exacerbations of the disease become [54]. On the other hand, AMs produce mediators, like CCL17, CCL8, and CCL24, which enhance eosinophilia and type 2 immunity in both mice and patients with asthma, while they also secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF-a, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-17, which promote AAI [55]. Lung-resident macrophages interact also with the lung tumors. Tissue-resident macrophages were found to be linked to the growth of primary tumors in the lungs of mice [56]. In lung cancer, a special type of lung macrophages is detected, the Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), which seem to be the tissue-resident IM, which promote tumor growth in an IL-9-dependent manner [57].

Dendritic Cells (DCs)

Pulmonary DCs are the primary cells responsible for presenting antigens. They initiate adaptive immunity by transporting antigens to the lymph nodes that drain the lungs [39]. The three main lung-resident DC populations seem to be the monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs), plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), and conventional DCs (cDCs), which can be further divided in CD103+ cDCs (cDC1s) and CD11b+ cDCs (cDC2s) [37,39,58] :

- CD103+ cDCs, also known as cDC1s, transport and present antigens from the alveoli to CD8+ (and CD4+) T cells, which leads to the production of effector CD8+ T cells[59]. In the human lung, the myeloid type 2 DCs serve as the equivalent subset of CD103+ cDCs [CD11c+BDCA-3+(CD141)] [60,61]. Depletion of these cells in mice infected with influenza hampers their ability to clear the virus and worsens the outcome of the disease. This underscores the significance of these cells in maintaining the host's overall homeostasis [62].
- The human equivalent population of CD11b+ mouse DCs (cDC2s) are the myeloid type 1 DCs (CD11c+CD1c+) [60,61]. Interestingly, these are the only dendritic cells accumulating in SARS-CoV-2-infected human lungs [63], possibly due to the fact that they have the ability to boost the activity of CD4+ T cells and activate follicular helper T cells, both of which play a role in promoting effective immune responses against viruses [64].
- moDCs are attracted to the lungs during inflammation, but their presence in the lungs during normal conditions is not yet well understood.
- pDCs play a very important role in antiviral responses, as they are the main cells producing Interferon 1 [65]. Murine pDCs express specific markers, like the plasmacytoid dendritic cell antigen-1 (PDCA-1) [39,58]. Pulmonary human pDCs are characterized as CD11c-BDCA-2+ [60,61]. Bone marrow stromal antigen-2 (BST-2) is a marker expressed by both murine and human pDCs [66].

Despite the common functions of DCs described above, their role differs among different infectious diseases. For instance, in individuals with severe COVID-19, there have been reports of a decrease in the number of DCs, impaired ability to present antigens, and reduced production of IFN I [63,67,68]. Upon bacterial infections, even if DCs sustain their antigen presenting function[36], in mice infected with S. pneumoniae, a deficiency in DCs was associated with limited bacterial spread and lower systemic inflammation, suggesting that pneumococci exploit DC-mediated proteolysis to spread beyond the lungs [69]. Regarding M. tuberculosis, DCs control infection and granuloma formation through bacillus phagocytosis

and induction of cytokine production [70], while infected DCs migrate to lung-draining lymph nodes and trigger adaptive immune responses [71].

DCs take also part in lung inflammation related to asthma. The interaction between allergens and DCs is followed by differentiation of naïve T helper (Th) cells, which in turn trigger ILC2 and Th2 cell accumulation and these two cell populations produce finally type 2 cytokines [72]. Murine pDCs can be categorized into different subgroups depending on the presence of the surface markers CD8 α or CD8 β , as these markers have been found to either inhibit or promote the development of asthma [73]. DCs have the ability not just to initiate and maintain allergic Th2 immune responses, but also regulate and restrict them [74].

Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs)

ILCs are innate immune cells, which also reside in mucosal organs (tissue-resident cells) [75,76]. They have a common lymphoid origin and lack antigen-specific receptors [77,78]. ILCs guard tissue homeostasis by initiating and maintaining protective immune responses against invading pathogens [79,80]. On the other hand, dysregulated ILCs contribute to the pathogenesis of respiratory diseases [81,82].

ILC1s, ILC2s, ILC3, natural killer (NK) cells, and lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) cells are the five members of the ILC family. The functions of the ILCs can be compared with the function of T cells, with ILC1s, ILC2s, and ILC3s being functionally analogous to CD4+ T helper (Th)1, Th2, and Th17 cells, respectively, while NK cells are cytotoxic cells functionally similar to CD8+ T cells [77]. A major difference between the human and murine lung regarding ILCs, is that ILC3 reside mainly in the respiratory tract of the former, while ILC2s are the main population in the lungs of the latter [75].

NK cells and ILC1s are referred to as ILC Group 1 and mostly take part in the antiviral and antitumor immunity[83–85]. IL-12, IL-15 or IL-18 trigger the secretion of interferon γ (IFN- γ) from these cells and IFN- γ , in turn, boosts intracellular pathogen elimination and antigen presentation by other immune cells [83,85]. NK cells have an additional cytotoxic function by secreting perforin and granzyme B [86]. NK cells' antiviral function is highlighted by the fact that NK cell depletion causes higher pulmonary virus titers in influenza-infected mice [87,88], while ILC1 and NK cell protective role has been also proven in experiments with RSV [89,90]. Regarding COVID-19, decreased NK, ILC1 and ILC2 numbers have been measured in the blood of COVID-19 patients [91], a finding indicating the migration of ILCs in the lung upon severe infection. Furthermore, NK cells seem to act against M. tuberculosis, since they bind on the pathogen and can produce IFN- γ , thereby having cytotoxic effects [92].

As stated above, ILC2s are the most prevalent ILC population in the murine lung. ILC2s are identified through flow cytometry in mouse lungs by the expression of several markers, such as IL7Ra, CD25, ST2, CD69, CD90, and CD44, while being lineage negative [80,93]. A

difference between murine and human ILC2s, is that human ILC2s express CD161 instead of CD44 [77]. The transcription factor GATA3 seems to be very important for both murine and human ILC2s, as it regulates the development, maintenance and activation of these cells [75,94]. Upon stimulation by the epithelial alarmins, ILC2s secrete type 2 cytokines, such as IL-5, IL-4 and IL-13 [95–97]. Thus, their contribution to asthma is crucial. Patients with asthma have increased circulating and lung-resident ILC2s [98,99], but mainly the ones with eosinophilic asthma, since neutrophilic asthma is associated with higher amounts of ILC1s and ILC3s [100]. ILC2s [101] promote airway eosinophilia through IL-5 production, and enhance airway hyperresponsiveness, goblet cell hyperplasia and Th2-mediated AAI via IL-13 secretion [81].

ILC3s and LTi cells are activated by retinoic acid-related orphan receptor-γt (RORγt)-mediated signalling and they secrete IL-17, IL-22, GM-CSF, and/or tumor necrosis factor-α (TNFα) thereby inducing Th17-like immune responses [96]. Since they produce IL-22, they maintain and support epithelial barrier integrity and function [96], as IL-22 is an important cytokine for epithelial barrier regeneration [102]. Moreover, ILC3s protect from the recurrence of bacterial pneumonia by secreting IL-22 [103]. ILC3s are widely known for their role in coping with bacterial infections [104]. Upon infection, ILC3s, as mentioned above, secrete IL-17 and IL-22 [104], thereby enhancing the airway epithelial barrier function and promoting immune responses against S. pneumoniae [105]. Also, through the secretion of the same cytokines, ILC3s respond early to M. tuberculosis infection.

Tissue resident memory T cells (TRMs)

TRMs are CD4+ and CD8+ memory T cells, which adhere to peripheral tissue and lack homing receptors [106,107]. Due to this fact, TRMs reside in peripheral tissues for long periods of time. Through DC-mediated activation, effector T cells differentiate to TRMs and subsequently migrate from lymphoid tissues into the lung [108,109]. They offer a rapid response to secondary infections [110] and they take part in antitumor local immunosurveillance [111]. Nevertheless, their dysregulation can also lead to pathogenic immune response [112]. The most well-known surface marker they express (both in mice and in humans) is CD69, which competitively inhibits sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptor expression thereby impeding S1P-mediated tissue cell escape [113,114]. Increased expression of CD44 and CD103, along with reduced CD62L and CCR7, also suggest a diminished capacity for cell migration and homing [115,116]. As expected, CD4+ and CD8+ TRM cells have common phenotypic characteristics. However, a major lung-specific difference is that CD4+ TRM cells typically display minimal or absent CD103 expression, in contrast with CD8+ TRMs [117,118].

CD4+ TRMs are more abundant than CD8+ TRMs in the lung [117,118]. They are located mainly in the bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (iBALT), a space constantly exposed to

environmental pathogens [119]. On the other hand, CD8+ TRMs are primarily located within recently formed niches called repair-associated memory depots (RAMDs), which serve as the main hubs for tissue regeneration following injury [120,121].

As far as their function against infections is concerned, many studies have been conducted, regarding influenza, RSV and COVID-19, indicating the existence of viral specific TRMs, both CD4+ and CD8+[122–124]. These cells not only enhance virus clearance and protect from a potential re-infection [125], but also they offer protection against many different pathogens, as a cross-reactive immunity with other viruses with similar epitopes has been described [126]. During bacterial respiratory infections, CD8+ TRMs through IFN- γ secretion and CD4+ TRMs through IL-17 have the ability to attract neutrophils in the infected lung, contributing to pathogen elimination [127]. Notably, the use of antibiotics like clarithromycin has been linked to a decreased population of CD4+ TRM cells in the lungs, leading to a compromised host response during a subsequent S. pneumoniae re-infection. As long as asthma is concerned, a Th2-TRM population has been recognised, which release cytokines that enhance and maintain airway eosinophilia [128].

TRMs play a very important role in immune responses against cancer. Cytotoxic CD8+ T cells with high CD103 expression present increased proliferation and cytotoxicity against cancer cells of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [129]. The effectiveness of CD8+ T cell cytotoxicity is significantly influenced by CD4+ TRM cells, which can hinder tumor growth by producing IFN-γ or by eliminating tumor cells themselves. [130]. In metastatic lung cancer, TRMs can be found not only in the primary tumor and the contralateral mammary mucosa, but also in the pre-metastatic lung. CXCR6 appears to play a pivotal role in ensuring the retention of TRMs within the primary tumor. This increased TRM retention increases also in the lung the tumor-derived TRM cells and promotes protection against metastasis [131].

<u>γδ-T cells</u>

 $\gamma\delta$ -T cells are also lung resident cells that respond rapidly to threats, which can harm lung homeostasis by triggering immune responses [132]. In this way, they take part in protection against infectious factors, tumor surveillance and tissue repair [133]. These cells possess both typical adaptive characteristics and the capacity to mount strong innate-like responses. Mucosal and epithelial tissues, such as the skin and the lung, contain high amounts of $\gamma\delta$ -T cells, accounting for 8-20% of resident lymphocytes in the lung [134]. Beyond the airway mucosa, lung $\gamma\delta$ -T cells can be located in all non-alveolar regions. Notably, V γ 4+ and V γ 1+ $\gamma\delta$ -T cells are primarily distributed in parenchymal lung regions [135]. Resident lung $\gamma\delta$ -T cells primarily produce IL-17 [132], indicating their role in combatting pathogens and maintaining pulmonary stability [136]. They also produce IL-22, which protects mice from lung fibrosis [137]. Nevertheless, lung $\gamma\delta$ -T cells may also play a role in aberrant immune responses and

consequently contribute to the development of diseases, as exemplified by allergic asthma [138].

Regarding the role of $y\delta$ -T cells against infections, a study with infant mice infected with influenza A virus, has shown, that IL-33 production by epithelial cells leads to the accumulation of γδ-T cells that produce IL-17A, which, in turn, initiates type 2 immunity and recruits ILC2 and regulatory T (Treg) cells. This recruitment enhances the release of amphiregulin and facilitates tissue repair [139]. In the case of human influenza virus infection, the primary immune response is driven by $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ -T cells that produce IFN- γ [140]. Interestingly, activated human Vy9Vδ2-T cells have the capability to eliminate influenza-infected human alveolar epithelial cells and hinder viral replication in vitro [141]. Additionally, they can mitigate disease severity in immunodeficient mice infected with human influenza virus strains in humanized models [142]. Furthermore, these cells have been suggested to enhance the efficiency of vaccination, as a study showed that, after RSV immunization followed by infection, higher levels of Vy4+ y δ -T cells were observed in mouse lungs. These cells demonstrated the ability to produce various pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN-y, TNF, IL-4, and IL-5 when stimulated ex vivo [143]. Data from patients with COVID-19, revealed decreased γδ-T cells in the blood [144]. In another study, a shift of $\gamma\delta$ -T cells towards an effector-like phenotype with enhanced tissue infiltration capacity was detected in patients who had recovered from COVID-19 infection [145]. Both findings mentioned above indicate the important role of lung-resident γδ-T cells in coping with COVID-19 infection. In S. pneumoniae infection, except for the ability of γδ-T cells to produce IL-17, which was mentioned above, they can also decrease DCs and AMs in the lungs thereby facilitating resolution of inflammation caused by pneumococcal infection. [146].

Many contradictory studies can be found in the literature about the function of $\gamma\delta$ -T cells in asthma. On the one hand, $\gamma\delta$ -T cell-deficient mice with ovalbumin-induced asthma demonstrated reduced airway eosinophilia, peribronchial lymphocytic infiltration, airway hyperresponsiveness, serum IgE and IL-5 levels compared to wild-type mice [147,148]. On the other hand, IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ -T cells have been suggested to enhance the resolution of eosinophilic and Th2-mediated airway inflammation [138,149].

1.3 The role of the respiratory epithelial barrier in lung diseases

The respiratory epithelium plays a leading role not only in maintaining the homeostasis of the lung but also in the pathogenesis of respiratory diseases. The fact that the respiratory epithelium is constantly exposed to all the pathogens contained in the inhaled air, justifies this crucial role and highlights the importance of its effective protective functions. The main cellular

components of the respiratory epithelium are the ciliated, the goblet, the club and the basal cells [150]. The composition of human extra- and intrapulmonary airways includes all the cells mentioned above, but in the bronchioles proximal to the alveoli the basal cells are absent. In the mouse lung, goblet cells are generally nearly absent and there are no basal cells in the intrapulmonary airways (mice do not have bronchioles) [150]. The epithelial cells are tightly connected with each other, forming the respiratory epithelial barrier. The "glue" binding these cells strongly together are three structures made of junctional proteins, the apical junctional complexes: adherens junctions (AJ), tight junctions (TJ), and desmosomes [151]. TJ are the most well studied structures in different diseases and they seem to affect significantly the permeability of the respiratory epithelial barrier and thus, we focus on them in the current thesis. TJs seal the membranes of the adjacent cells with three transmembrane proteins: claudins, occludins (OZLN), and junctional adhesion molecules (JAM). A peripheral membrane protein, Zonula Occludin (ZO), binds to these transmembrane proteins and stabilizes them in the cytoskeleton [151].

The main functions of the respiratory epithelium that protect the lung from environmental threats are:

- the mucus production and the muco-ciliary clearance. On the top layer of the epithelial cells, the "gel like" mucus traps most of the inhaled particles and through the mucociliary escalator these are then brushed upwards [152]. Furthermore, the mucus contains also antimicrobial peptides, highly polymeric mucins and neutralizing antibodies which contribute to the elimination of the inhaled pathogens [153].
- 2. the epithelial-immune crosstalk. During pathogen invasion, the epithelial cells respond by releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines, IFNs, nitric oxide, antimicrobial peptides and extracellular vesicles, "notifying" host immunity about the incoming threat [154]. Interestingly, during viral infections, epithelial cells express various death-associated molecules (TRAIL, caspases etc.), leading to epithelial cell death at an early stage of the infection thereby eliminating both infected cells and replicating viruses.
- the apical junctional complexes mentioned above [154]. These complexes not only stabilize the epithelial cells, making them able to act properly, but also inhibit bacterial migration from the airways to the bloodstream [155].

In the current thesis, we will focus on the integrity of the respiratory epithelial barrier, namely the integrity of the apical junctional complexes. The alteration of the apical junctional complexes in various lung diseases will be described below.

COPD is also known as the smokers' disease. The increased epithelial permeability and the impaired epithelial barrier function due to smoking have been studied for many years [156]. Decreased Transepithelial Electrical Resistance (TEER), an indication of higher barrier

permeability, and downregulation of OCLN, ZO-1, and ZO-2 have been found in cultured human epithelial bronchial cells exposed to cigarette smoke extract [157,158]. The respiratory epithelium of COPD patients is more vulnerable to barrier dysfunction, as downregulation of the expression of the junctional protein genes has been observed in these patients [159,160]. The increased epithelial barrier permeability in smokers, and especially in COPD patients, contributes to frequent respiratory infections and COPD exacerbations, which lead to the higher morbidity of these patients [161,162].

Data from asthma patients also indicate an impaired function of the respiratory epithelial barrier in this case, as both abnormal staining of the junctional proteins OCLN and ZO-1 in lung biopsies and disruption of these proteins in epithelial cell cultures have been observed [163]. Moreover, adherens junctional proteins α -catenin and E-cadherin are lower expressed in these patients [164]. It seems that inhaled pathogens, namely viruses, allergens and cigarette smoke, impair the function and structure of apical junctional complexes [165–167]. Many airborne allergens have a proteolytic activity, which affects the proteins of the apical junctional complexes. By direct cysteine and serine proteinase activity, they disrupt OCLN, claudin-1 [166], and E-cadherin molecules [168], degrading in this way the apical junctional proteins [169–171]. Of note, E-cadherin deficient mice manifest many asthmatic pathological features, namely loss of ciliated cells, progressive epithelial damage, decreased ZO-1 expression, zones of epithelial denudation, and goblet cell metaplasia. Taking the above into consideration, many researchers suggest that, since the absence of apical junctional proteins occurs in asthma and allergens and viruses can dislocate these proteins, this may be one of the main mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of asthma [172].

Cystic Fibrosis is characterized by airway surface liquid dehydration and subsequently impaired muco-ciliary clearance due to mutations of the CFTR gene [173], but except for this primary dysfunction, defective apical and gap junctions have also been described. Specifically, cultured human airway epithelial cells mutated for the CFTR presented altered TEER and impaired trafficking of connexin 43 compared to healthy airway epithelial cells, due to impaired function of TJ and gap junctions [174]. Furthermore, another study with cultured human airway epithelial cells derived from CF patients showed impaired protective gap junctions closing upon TNF- α stimulation [175]. These data indicate a disrupted function of the airway epithelial barrier in patients with CF.

Fibrotic lesions, deposition of high amounts of extracellular matrix proteins (mainly collagen) and patchy alveolar epithelium injury are typical in the lungs of IPF patients. The epithelial barrier function is altered also in this disease. Alveolar permeability increases and the function of the AJ is impaired [176]. A functional test, measuring the clearance of aerosolized 99mTc-DTPA, in IPF patients also revealed the increased alveolar permeability [177]. This can be partially justified by the different expression of the TJ components by the alveolar epithelium

in IPF patients compared to healthy individuals, which leads to the dysfunction of the airway epithelial barrier [178].

The integrity of the respiratory epithelial barrier is also disrupted in respiratory infections. In Influenza A virus lung infection, reduced expression of occludins and of junctional adhesion molecules leads to the disruption of the epithelial barrier [165]. Interestingly, a protein of the virus, the non-structural protein 1 (NS1) can interact with TJ proteins, rearrange ZO-1 and destabilize the junctional integrity [179]. Under normal conditions, the airway epithelial barrier inhibits extracellular respiratory bacteria like *Streptococcus pneumoniae* to migrate, but the disruption of the epithelial barrier by the Influenza A virus, enables *S. pneumoniae* migation from the airways to the bloodstream [180,181]. *S. pneumoniae* also harms the airway epithelial barrier, through the pneumococcal cytotoxin, pneumolysin, which disrupts TJ and reduces cilia organization, affecting also the ciliary beating [182,183].

1.4 The role of sex hormones in lung diseases

The effect of sex hormones on some lung diseases seems obvious, as the sex bias of these diseases changes according to the normal shift of the sex hormone concentration in different age stages. For example, during childhood, asthma is more prevalent in boys, while in puberty and adulthood, females are more frequently affected [8]. This observation indicates the protective role of testosterone (TES) in asthma. However, in many lung diseases, the effect of sex hormones is not so clear. Moreover, it is still elusive on which molecular pathways the sex hormones act thereby leading to a better or a worse disease outcome and consequently a sex bias, which we observe as clinicians.

Based on the shifting sex bias that is observed in asthma in different stages of life, TES is considered protective, while female sex hormones are related to negative outcomes [184]. Two well-studied mechanisms have been proposed to explain the positive effect of androgens on asthma, namely their effect on airway smooth muscles and on the asthmatic inflammatory response. Airway hyperresponsiveness is a common feature of asthma [185] that leads to airway narrowing and excessive airway obstruction. Many studies indicate that TES and its metabolites enhance airway smooth muscle relaxation by acting on many ion channels like the L-type voltage dependent Ca2+ channels (L-VDCCs) and thus, reduce airway hyperresponsiveness. Regarding inflammatory asthmatic response, strong evidence supports that male sex steroids attenuate ILC2-, Th2 cell- and IL-17A-mediated responses, namely the most important mediators in asthma pathogenesis. Furthermore, they inhibit leukotriene biosynthesis, which are also cytokines that enhance asthmatic inflammatory responses. Many studies have tried to shed light on the effect of female sex steroids on asthma. It seems that estrogens, overall, affect asthma negatively [186]. Different studies indicate a contradicting

role of estrogens in airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma, as some studies show that they enhance airway smooth muscle relaxation, while others show the opposite [187]. However, clearer to us is the role of estrogens in asthma-related airway inflammation with most studies pointing out increased allergic inflammation through estrogen receptor (ER) A signalling. Specifically, estrogens have been proposed to trigger higher IgE levels, higher amount of eosinophils, DCs and Th2 cells and greater production of IL-17A. Interestingly, fluctuating levels of estrogens and progesterone in the menstrual cycle lead to the perimenstrual asthma (PMA) [184], which is the cyclical worsening of asthma during the luteal phase and/or during the first days of menstruation [188].

Current evidence indicates that women are more susceptible to COPD than men. In accordance to this, androgens have been proposed to have an alleviating effect on COPD and estrogens to increase the disease burden. It is important to mention here, that the influence of sex hormones and especially of estrogens in COPD is poorly explored. A meta-analysis showed that the lower the TES levels are in men, the worse the disease outcome is and also that COPD male patients have lower levels of TES compared to healthy male individuals [189]. Another study demonstrated that testosterone replacement therapy led the COPD patients to less hospitalization rates and slowed down the progression of the disease [190]. An animal study showed lower eosinophil recruitment in androgen receptor knockout mice upon COPD induction, which was mediated by a M2 polarization of the alveolar macrophages [191]. Evidence about the effect of estrogens on COPD is provided by epidemiological studies, which indicate that COPD exacerbations are increased after female hormone replacement therapy [192].

A male bias has been identified in the case of pulmonary fibrosis (PF). Studies with mouse models indicate that androgens worsen lung fibrosis and injury [193,194]. Specifically, a study focusing on bleomycin-induced PF in mice showed that lung function is restored in male mice after castration, while fibrosis is aggravated after 5α -Dihydrotestosterone supplementation [193]. Regarding the effect of estrogens on PF, reported results seem to be discrepant. In different animal models of bleomycin-induced PF, ovariectomy was associated with less inflammation or fibrosis in one study [194], while it led to disease exacerbation in another [195]. In human samples, assessment of ER expression in IPF patients suggests that estrogens may contribute to disease pathogenesis [196].

Of note, the role of estrogens in lung cancer has been extensively studied and their function in favor of the cancer cells has led to the use of aromatase inhibitors as lung cancer therapy [197]. Specifically, many studies provide evidence that estrogens contribute to the proliferation and the progression of lung cancer, as human lung cancer cells express the ER β [198] and high expression of this receptor in lung cancer cells is related to worse disease outcomes [199]. The effect of androgens on lung cancer cells is not as well understood as the one of estrogens.

Epidemiological studies report an association between high TES serum levels and lung cancer progression[200], while the use of 5α reductase inhibitors is related to better survival outcomes [201]. Enhanced lung cancer cell proliferation after exposure to androgens has also been shown *in vitro* [202].

Sex hormones also play a role in lung infection manifestation and progression, as seen also in the case of SARS-CoV-2. Men >60 years old and/or with comorbidities like diabetes, obesity and COPD have the highest risk to suffer from severe COVID 19-related outcomes [203]. Interestingly all these risk exacerbating conditions are related to lower levels of TES [204]. Of note, male patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia who were admitted in the Intensive Care Unit or died had lower levels of total and calculated free TES [205]. Due to the higher COVID-19 burden observed in patients with low TES levels, the use of testosterone has been proposed to inhibit the progression of SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia [206]. Estrogens seem to have also a similar effect with TES on coronavirus lung disease, as either after the use of an ER antagonist or after ovariectomy, female mice infected with SARS-Cov-2 presented higher morbidity and mortality [207]. Moreover, administration of estrogens has also been proposed as an approach against SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia, especially for women in menopause [208].

1.5 Hypothesis and objectives of the current thesis

The majority of lung diseases are manifested with a clear sex bias and sex hormones seem to be one of the most important factors underlying these sex differences, since they can affect lung disease manifestation and outcome. However, the molecular targets of the sex hormones in this context remain elusive. The two main compartments of the lung tissue microenvironment, namely the lung resident immune cells and the airway epithelial barrier, play a crucial role in sustaining homeostasis. Of note, dysfunction of these compartments has been implicated in the pathogenesis of all common lung diseases. Our hypothesis is that sex differences in lung resident immunity and the airway epithelial barrier, likely mediated by sex hormones, underline the sexual dimorphism of respiratory diseases.

In order to address this hypothesis, the aim of the present dissertation was to:

- 1. detect sex differences in the frequency of innate and adaptive resident immune cells in the lungs of adult naïve male and female mice.
- identify the effect of sex hormones on lung resident immune cells and on the integrity of the respiratory epithelial barrier, using hormone manipulation approaches in male and female mice.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Chemicals

All standard chemicals, for buffer, solution or medium preparation, used for the experiments of the current thesis are listed in Table 1.

Table '	1:	Chemi	cals
---------	----	-------	------

Chemical Name	Company
Citrate buffer	DCS, Hamburg, Germany
Collagenase D	Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim,
	Germany
CompBeads (anti-rat/anti-hamster/anti-	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany
mouse Ig κ and negative control	
compensation particles)	
SPHERO™ AccuCount Particles	Spherotech TM, Lakeforest, Illinois, USA
(Counting Beads)	
DNase I	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Munich,
	Germany
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid solution	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Steinheim,
(EDTA)	Germany
Bioethanol 99%	TH Geyer GnbH, Renningen, Germany
Fetal calf serum (FCS)	Gibco/Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham,
	MA, USA
Formaldehyde solution	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Munich,
	Germany
Isoflurane 100%	Sedana Medical AB, Danderyd,
	Schweden
Normal rat serum (NRS)	Jachson ImmunoResearch Laboratories,
	West Grove, PA, USA
Mowiol 4-88	Carl Roth GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe,
	Germany
Paraffin	DCS, Hamburg, Germany
Paraformaldehyde (PFA)	Biochemica, Billingham, UK
Percoll	Cytiva, Upsala, Sweden
T-M 30 days Testosterone Implants	Belma technologies, Liege, Belgium

Triton-X-100	Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany
Xylene	Greyer, Renningen, Germany
Xylol replacement medium	DiaTec Diagnostics GmbH, Dortmund,
[Xylolersatzmedium (XEM)] HS200	Germany

2.1.2 Media, buffers and solutions

Table 2:	Media.	buffers	and	solutions

Name	Composition	Company
Blocking solution (immunofluorescence)	0.1% Triton-X-100 in 1x PBS 10% FCS 3% BSA	
Citrate buffer (pH=6)	1L H2O 2.1g Sodium Citrate	
Dulbecco's Phosphate		Gibco, Waltham, MA, USA
Buffered Saline (DPBS)		
FACS buffer	Dulbecco's Phosphate-	Gibco/ThermoFisher
	Buffered Saline (PBS)	Scientific, Waltham, MA,
	0.5% EDTA	USA
	1% FCS	
	10% Counting beads	
	solution	
FC Block solution	2,5% TruStain Fcx	
	5% NRS	
	92,5% PBS	
RPMI Medium		Gibco, Waltham, MA, USA

2.1.3 Plastic and other materials

Consumables used for all the conducted experiments are listed in Table 3.

Table 3: Plastic and other materials

Name	Company			
Coll strainer (40um pulan)	Folgen Brand Bradueta Corning NV LISA			
	Faicon Brand Products, Corning, NY, USA			
Tissue-Tek III Blue biopsy cassettes	Sakura Finetek Europe			
Embedding cassettes "Macro"	Carl Roth GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe,			
	Germany			
Standard microscope slides	Carl Roth GmbH & Co. KG, Karlsruhe,			
	Germany			
BD Venflon needle protected intravenous	BD, Becton, Dickinson and Company,			
cannula 20G, 1x32mm	Sweden			
BD Micro-fine+ Insulin syringes U100	BD, Becton, Dickinson and Company,			
0,3x8 mm	Sweden			
Syringes (1ml, 5ml, 10 ml)	B. Braun Melsungen AG, Hessen,			
	Germany			
Polystyrene, round-bottom FACS tube (5	Falcon Brand Products, Corning, NY, USA			
ml)				
Non-absorbable surgical sutures 2-0 50cm	Resorba, Nürnberg, Germany			
Syringe needle 27G x ½" 0,4x12mm	B. Braun Melsungen AG, Hessen,			
	Germany			
Syringe needle 26G x 1/2" 0.45 x 12mm	B. Braun Melsungen AG, Hessen,			
	Germany			
Syringe needle 21G x ½" 0.80 x 40mm	B. Braun Melsungen AG, Hessen,			
	Germany			
Safe-Lock Tubes 1.5 mL	Eppendorf, Hamburg , Germany			
50 mL plastic tubes	Greiner Bio-One GmbH, Frickenhausen,			
	Germany			
10 mL plastic tubes	Greiner Bio-One GmbH, Frickenhausen,			

2.1.4 Antibodies

Antibodies used in flow cytometry and immunofluorescence are listed in Tables 4 and 5

Conjugated	Antigen	Dilution	Company
Fluorochrome			
AF700	CD45	1:400	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
AF488 (FITC)	Ly-6g	1:400	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
APC	CD11c	1:200	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany
APC	ΤϹϽγδ	1:200	eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA
APC-Cy7	CD11b	1:200	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany
APC-Cy7	CD44	1:400	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BUV 737	CD4	1:800	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany
BV421	CD19	1:400	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BV421	CD69	1:200	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BV510	CD3	1:200	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BV510	CD19	1:400	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BV510	MHC II	1:600	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
eFluor 506 (BV510)	Fixable Viability Dve	1:1000	eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA
BV650	MHCII	1:800	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BV650	CD8	1:800	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BV711	NK-1.1	1:300	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
BV785	CD103	1:100	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
FITC	CD3	1:200	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany
PE	Siglec-F	1:50	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany

Table 4. Antiboules used for now cytometry
--

PE-Texas Red	F4/80	1:200	Invitrogen Carlsbad, CA, USA
PE-Cy7	CD45	1:400	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
PerCP-Cy5.5	Ly-6c	1:200	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA
PerCP-Cy5.5	CD62L	1:400	BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA

Table 5: Antibodies for immunofluorescence

Antigen	Origin	Dilution	Company
Anti-ZO-1	Rabbit	1:100	Invitrogen, ThermoFisher Scient
	polyclonal		
anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L)	Donkey	1:1000	ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA,
Secondary Antibody, Alexa	polyclonal		USA
Fluor 568			
Hoechst 33258		1:5000	Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Munich,
			Germany

2.1.5 Equipment and instruments

Experiments were conducted using standard laboratory equipment. Special instruments used are listed in Table 6.

Table 6: Instruments

Name	Company
Flow cytometer LSR Fortessa	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany
Microtome SM2010R	Leica, Wetzlar, Germany
Rotina 380 centrifuge	Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany
SP8 LIGHTNING confocal microscope	Leica, Wetzlar, Germany
ThermoMixer comfort	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

2.1.6 Softwares

Software used for data acquisition and analysis is found in Table 7.

Table 7: Softwares

Name	Company
GraphPad Prism version 8	GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA
FlowJo version 9.9.5	TreeStar, Ashland, OR, USA
FACS DivaTM Software version 8.0.1	BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany
ImageJ	National Institutes of Health, Bethesda,
	Maryland, USA
LasX	Leica, Microsystems

2.1.7 Mice

Adult male and female C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River and kept in the animal facility of the University Medical Centre Hamburg-Eppendorf in a 12-hour light/dark circle with ad libitum access to food and water. All animal studies were designed in accordance with institutional guidelines and approved a priori by the respective German authorities (Behörde für Gesundheit and Verbraucherschutz Hamburg; approval number: N20/29).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Ovariectomy, Castration and sham operation

<u>Ovariectomy</u>

Adult female mice were anaesthetized with isoflurane inhalation in an isoflurane chamber. Isoflurane was administered in conjunction with pure oxygen (3–4%) for anesthesia induction in mice. After immobilization of the mice, they were placed in a prone position and connected to an isoflurane nose cone. Eye lubricant was frequently used in order to prevent corneal drying and damage. -Mouse hair was shaved off the flank area (between the last rib and above the pelvis). Skin was disinfected. An incision in the skin on the right was made. The musculature was separated using curved tip scissors. The ovarian fat pad was pulled out of the incision. Using the tweezers hemostatic, the region below the ovary was tightly clamped. Using a sterile thread, two knots were made in order to delimitate the area, which was removed, and then the ovary was removed. The same procedure was closed with surgical wound clips. The animals were daily observed for any inflammatory signs at the surgical wound and were examined for any behavior suggesting pain or distress.

Castration

Adult male mice were anaesthetized with isoflurane inhalation in an isoflurane chamber. Isoflurane was administered in conjunction with pure oxygen (3–4%) for anesthesia induction in mice. After immobilization of the mice, they were placed in a prone position, and connected to an isoflurane nose cone. Eye lubricant was frequently used in order to prevent corneal drying and damage. Mouse hair was shaved off the flank area (between the last rib and above the pelvis). Skin was disinfected. A vertical incision through the skin in the midline of the lower abdomen, approximately 1.5 cm anterior to the penis was made. Then a small incision (<1 cm) through the peritoneum was made. The cut edge of the peritoneum was gripped and lifted up in order to expose the peritoneal cavity beneath. From inside the peritoneal cavity the right testicular fat pad was gripped. The fat pad was pulled through the opening in the peritoneum and skin and the testis came out as well. We used a cautery pen to cut through the fat pad that was holding the testis and also the testicular artery was cut with the cautery pen. Then the testis and fat pad were removed. The same procedure was repeated for the left testicle. The peritoneum was closed with absorbable sutures and the skin was closed with surgical wound clips. The animals were daily observed for any inflammatory signs at the surgical wound and were examined for any behavior suggesting pain or distress.

Sham operation

Adult male and female mice were anaesthetized with isoflurane inhalation in an isoflurane chamber. Isoflurane was administered in conjunction with pure oxygen (3–4%) for anesthesia induction in mice. After immobilization of the mice, they were placed in a prone position and were connected to an isoflurane nose cone. Eye lubricant was frequently used in order to prevent corneal drying and damage. Mouse hair was shaved off the flank area (between the last rib and above the pelvis). Skin was disinfected. A vertical incision through the skin in the midline of the lower abdomen was made. Then a small incision through the peritoneum was made. Then the peritoneum was closed with absorbable sutures and the skin was closed with surgical wound clips. The animals were daily observed for any inflammatory signs at the surgical wound and were examined for any behavior suggesting pain or distress.

2.2.2 Testosterone implants in female mice

Adult female C57BL/6 mice were anaesthetized with isoflurane inhalation in an isoflurane chamber. Isoflurane was administered in conjunction with pure oxygen (3–4%) for anesthesia induction in mice. After immobilization of the mice, they were placed in a prone position and connected to an isoflurane nose cone. Eye lubricant was frequently used in order to prevent corneal drying and damage. Mouse hair was shaved off the flank area. Skin was disinfected. Using a special injector, we injected and implanted the testosterone implants subcutaneously. The animals were daily observed for any inflammatory signs at the surgical wound and were examined for any behavior suggesting pain or distress. These implants were designed to release daily doses of testosterone in order to achieve physiological plasma concentration in mice (for male mice). The implants released from 51.9 to 154.5 μ g/24hr testosterone resulting in testosterone plasma concentrations of 0.9-3.7 ng/ml.

2.2.3 In vivo CD45 cell staining

In order to distinguish CD45⁺ cells circulating in the bloodstream from CD45⁺ cells residing in the lung parenchyma, we injected intravenously 5 µg (diluted in 100 µl PBS) of an AF-700 conjugated anti-CD45 antibody into the right retro-orbital sinus of isoflurane-anaesthetized mice and euthanized them 3 minutes later by cervical dislocation [209]. For *in vitro* CD45 staining, a PE-Cy7 conjugated anti-CD45 antibody was used. Using flow cytometry, the lung resident CD45 cell population was later identified as PE-Cy7 positive and AF-700 negative.

2.2.4 Tissue collection

Adult mice were anaesthetized with isoflurane inhalation. After the procedure described above in order to distinguish the resident CD45+ cells, mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. A large incision was made up to the neck of the mouse and blood was collected from the abdominal vena cava. Then, perfusion of the lungs was performed via the right ventricle of the heart, to remove the blood from the lungs. For flow cytometry, lungs were carefully collected, cleaned from all the surrounding tissues and placed in complete RPMI. To isolate lung tissues for histology, the trachea was exposed. A small cut on the trachea was made and the lungs were inflated through the trachea with 1ml 4 % PFA dissolved in 1x PBS. The trachea was then ligated, and then the lungs were carefully removed and cleaned from the surrounding tissues. Isolated lungs were placed in embedding white cassettes and subsequently in tubes containing a large volume of 4% PFA and kept at 4 °C overnight.

2.2.5 Single cell isolation from mouse organs

To perform flow cytometry, single-cell suspensions of lungs was generated. The collected in complete RPMI lungs, were minced and digested using 10 μ l collagenase D (working concentration: 2 mg/ml) and 2 μ l DNase I (10 U/ μ l) dissolved in 1x PBS. Following incubation at 37 °C for 30 min, the digested lung tissues were passed through a 40- μ m cell strainer and diluted in 40 ml 1% FCS dissolved in 1 x PBS. After centrifugation at 450g for 8 min at 4 °C, the cell pellet was resuspended in4ml 40% Percoll solution and was slowly added on the top of a 67% Percoll solution. After centrifugation at 400g for 30 min at 20 °C, 1 ml of the middle phase containing the immune cells was taken and resuspended in 30ml 1% FCS dissolved in 1 x PBS. After centrifugation at 450g for 8 min at 4 °C, the cell pellet was dissolved in 1 ml 1% FCS dissolved in 1 x PBS.

2.2.6 Flow cytometry

Extracellular staining

To conduct flow cytometry for two different panels, single cells isolated with the method described in paragraph 2.2.5 were resuspended in 1mL PBS and divided in two equal parts. Then they were centrifuged at 450g for 8 min at 4 °C. To block unspecific binding, cells were incubated with rat anti-mouse CD16/CD32 Mouse Fragment Crystallizable Block (1:200) and normal rat serum (1:100) in 50 μ I FACS buffer for 15 min at 4 °C. Subsequently, the cells were incubated with the respective antibodies for extracellular staining for 30 min at 4 °C in the dark. To identify dead cells, the fixable dead/life stain eFluor 506 (1:1000) was added to the antibody

mix. Next, the cells were washed with PBS (450 g, 8 min, 4 °C) to remove unbound antibodies and they were dissolved in 200 μ I FACS buffer, containing 20.000 counting beads. Then the samples were directly used for flow cytometry. To determine the optimal concentration for each antibody, titration was performed prior to staining. Data were acquired using a BD LSR/Fortessa II flow cytometer and analyzed using FlowJo software.

Data analysis

The data acquired with the BD LSR/Fortessa II flow cytometer, were analysed for both panels. Regarding the first panel mainly focusing on the innate resident immunity (+ B cells), firstly cell populations were distinguished based on their size using the forward scatter (FCS) and their granularity with the side scatter (SSC). Next, after excluding doublets and dead cells with the help of the dead/life stain, living single cells were detected. Using the marker CD3 in the same fluorescence channel as the dead/life staining, we excluded all T cells from the analysis of this panel. Subsequently, CD45+ resident cells were distinguished from the CD45+ circulating cells as described in paragraph 2.2.3. Resident cell populations (CD45 in vitro+, CD45 in vivo-) were characterized as follows [58,210,211]:

- B cells: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁺
- NK cells: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁺
- Neutrophils: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺
- Alveolar Macrophages: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁻SiglecF⁺CD11c⁺
- Eosinophils: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁻SiglecF⁺CD11c⁻CD11b⁺
- Interstitial Macrophages: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁻SiglecF⁻ F4/80⁺MHCII⁺
- Infiltrating monocytes: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁻SiglecF⁻ F4/80⁺MHCII⁻
- CD103+ DCs: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁻SiglecF⁻ F4/80⁺MHCII⁺CD11b⁻CD103⁺
- CD11b+ DCs: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁻SiglecF⁻ F4/80⁺MHCII⁺CD11b⁺CD103⁻
- pDCs: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD3⁻CD19⁻NK1.1⁻Ly6G⁻SiglecF⁻ F4/80⁺MHCII⁺CD11b⁺CD103⁻Ly6C⁺

The gating strategy for the populations mentioned above is presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Gating strategy for the panel mainly focusing on the lung resident innate immunity

Regarding the panel targeting the adaptive resident immunity, cell populations were firstly distinguished based on their size using the forward scatter (FCS) and their granularity with the side scatter (SSC). Next, after excluding doublets and dead cells with the help of the dead/life stain, living single cells were detected. In the same fluorescence channel with the dead/life

staining, we used the markers CD19 and MHCII to exclude B cells and some innate cells from the analysis of this panel. Subsequently, CD45+ resident cells were distinguished from the CD45+ circulating cells as described in paragraph 2.2.3. Resident cell populations (CD45 in vitro+, CD45 in vivo-) were characterized as follows [212]:

- $\gamma \delta T$ cells: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD19⁻MHCII⁻CD62L⁻CD3⁺TCR $\gamma \delta^+$
- CD4 TRM: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD19⁻MHCII⁻CD62L⁻CD3⁺TCR γδ⁻CD4⁺CD8⁻ CD69⁺CD44⁺
- CD8 TRM CD44+: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD19⁻MHCII⁻CD62L⁻CD3⁺TCR γδ⁻CD4⁻ CD8⁺CD69⁺CD44⁺
- CD8 TRM CD103+: CD45_{in vitro}⁺CD45_{in vivo}⁻CD19⁻MHCII⁻CD62L⁻CD3⁺TCR γδ⁻CD4⁻ CD8⁺CD69⁺CD103⁺

The gating strategy for the populations mentioned above is presented in Figure 3.

Compensation of spectral overlay

Before sample acquisition, compensation of spectral overlay of the fluorochromes used in each panel was performed as described previously [213]. Specifically, each antibody was coupled with anti-mouse/rat/hamster Ig Kappa (κ) beads based on the host in which the antibody was generated. The b eads were incubated with the respective antibody for 20 min at RT in the dark, then washed with FACS buffer and centrifuged (450 g, 5 min, 4 °C). Antibody volumes were determined empirically and varied from 0.1 to 1.25 µl per sample. For a single stained cell viability sample, 1x 10⁶ spleen cells, half of which were killed at 70 °C for 5 min before the incubation with the antibody, were used. To detect auto-fluorescence, unstained beads and cells were used. The measurement of the samples was performed using the LSR/Fortessa II flow cytometer in the Compensation Setup mode of the FACS Diva software and the compensation values were automatically calculated. To further correct compensation post measurement, if needed, "fluorescence minus one" (FMO) samples were measured. FMO samples are cells stained with all fluorescent antibodies in the respective panel except for one antibody.



Figure 3. Gating strategy for the panel mainly focusing on lung resident adaptive immunity.

2.2.7 Histology

Lungs were collected, as described in 2.2.4, and were put in embedding white cassettes. They were transferred in 1x PBS, following overnight fixation in 4% PFA. We used our established protocol for histology of paraffin embedded tissues [213]. For histological sectioning, the lungs were subsequently embedded in paraffin. To this end, the tissues were first dehydrated by immersion in increasing concentrations of ethanol resulting in water and formalin removal. Next, the lungs were cleared from ethanol by xylene, which allows paraffin infiltration thereby resulting in embedding the tissues in a paraffin block. The paraffin-embedded tissue blocks were then cooled down to -12 °C for 30 minutes before they were sectioned at 4 μ m using the microtome SM2010R. The sections were mounted on glass slides and finally dried overnight at 37 °C.

Dehydration and infiltration were performed according to the following protocol:

- Ethanol 70 % for 1 h
- Ethanol 80 % for 1 h
- Ethanol 90 % for 1 h
- Ethanol 95 % for 1 h
- Ethanol 100 % for 1 h
- Ethanol 100 % for 1.5 h
- Xylene I for 1 h
- Xylene II for 1 h
- Paraffin type 3, 58 °C for 1 h
- Paraffin type 3, 58° C for 1 h
- Paraffin type 3, 58 °C for 1 h

Before staining, deparaffinization and rehydration of the slides were performed following the established protocol:

- Xylene, 3 x 5 min
- Ethanol 100 %,2 x 5 min
- Ethanol 96 % for 2 min
- Ethanol 90 % for 2 min
- Ethanol 80% for 2 min
- Ethanol 70% for 2 min
- Washing in ddH2O for 5 min

2.2.8 Immunofluorescence staining

For immunofluorescent staining, a rabbit polyclonal anti- ZO-1 (Zonula occludens-1) antibody was used. The primary antibody was then detected by a secondary donkey polyclonal antirabbit antibody containing the Alexa Fluor 568 dye. For immunofluorescent staining we used the established in our lab protocol [213] No primary antibody was applied on sections that served as isotype controls. Prior to staining, heat-induced retrieval of epitopes was performed. Specifically, the deparaffinized lung tissue sections were placed in a microwaveable vessel containing 0.1 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) and boiled in a microwave (900W for 2 min and then 250 W for 7 min). The citrate-based solution allows the retrieval of antigens and enhances staining intensity by breaking the protein cross-links that are generated due to formalin fixation and mask the antigenic sites in the tissue thereby. After antigen retrieval and cooling down of the slides, immunofluorescence was performed following the established protocol:

First day

- Washing with 1x PBS for 2 min
- Cold 4% PFA for 10 min
- Washing with 1x PBS, 3 x 2 min
- 0.3% Triton-X-100 dissolved in 1x PBS for 5 min
- Washing with 1x PBS, 3 x 2 min
- Blocking solution at RT for 1h
- Incubation with primary antibody diluted (1/100) in blocking solution at 4°C, overnight

Second day

- Washing with 1x PBS, 3 x 2 min
- Incubation with secondary antibody diluted (1/1000) in blocking solution at RT for 1h
- Washing with 1x PBS, 3 x 2 min
- Incubation with Hoechst 33258 diluted (1/5000) in 1x PBS at RT for 5 min
- Washing with 1x PBS, 3 x 2 min
- Mounting of slides with Mowiol

2.2.9 Histological analysis

The integrity of the tight junctions in the bronchial epithelium was assessed by immunofluorescent staining of lung sections with the anti-ZO-1 antibody as described above. The slides were observed and images were captured with the Sp8 Leica Confocal Microscope. ZO-1, also known as tight junction protein-1, is located on the cytoplasmic membrane surface of the intercellular tight junctions and mediates signal transduction via cell-cell junctions. Ten airways from two levels of the lung parenchyma were examined for each mouse. The

abundance of ZO-1+ cells in each airway indicated the tight junction integrity of the bronchial epithelial barrier and was scored as follows:

- 0: 100% ZO-1+ cells
- 1: 80-95% ZO-1+ cells
- 2: 50-80% ZO-1+ cells
- 3: 25-50% ZO-1+ cells
- 4: 5-25% ZO-1+ cells
- 5: <5% ZO-1+ cells

2.2.10 Statistics

Animals were allocated to different groups by alternation. The results shown represent mean \pm SEM. Comparisons between two groups were performed using student's t-test or Mann-Whitney test, depending on the normality of distribution. P values were considered statistically significant when <0.05 (*: p<0.05; **: p<0.01; ***: p<0.001; ****: p<0.001). All statistical analyses were done and plots were created using GraphPad Prism versions 8.0 and 9.0.

3. Results

3.1 Sex differences in lung resident immunity in naïve mice

To identify potential sex differences in lung resident immunity, we used age-matched adult male (n= 4) and female (n= 5) naïve C57BL/6 mice and performed an intravascular staining protocol, which allowed us to distinguish, through flow cytometry, the resident (infiltrating) from the circulating immune cells [209,214], as described above (Figure 4a, b). Interestingly, significant differences in both the innate and adaptive lung resident immunity were observed between male and female mice (Figure 4c-j). Regarding the innate resident cells, male mice presented higher frequencies of alveolar macrophages and infiltrating monocytes residing in their lungs compared to the female ones (Figure 4d, 4e). On the other hand, female lungs had more CD103⁺ DCs and pDCs compared to the male ones (Figure 4f, 4g). As far as the lung resident adaptive resident immunity is concerned, female mice had significantly higher frequencies of CD4+ TRMs and slightly higher frequencies of CD8+TRMs, a trend that did not reach levels of significance (Figure 4i, 4j).



Figure 4. Sex differences in the innate and adaptive resident immunity of the murine naïve lungs (A) Graphic description of the experimental setup. Created with BioRender.com. **(B)** Gating for distinguishing the infiltrating (resident) CD45+ cells from the circulating ones. **(C)** Heatmap depicting the frequency of innate infiltrating immune cells in the female lung normalised to the frequency of innate infiltrating immune cells in the male lung. Resident CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells are the maternal population to which all frequencies are expressed. **(D-G)** Frequency (%) of infiltrating (d) monocytes, (e) alveolar macrophages, (f) CD103⁺ DCs, and (g) pDCs, in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells in male and female mouse lungs. **(H)** Heatmap depicting the frequency of adaptive infiltrating immune cells in the female lung normalised to
the frequency of adaptive infiltrating immune cells in the male lung. **(I-J)** Frequency (%) of infiltrating (i) CD4⁺ TRMs, (j) CD8⁺CD69⁺CD44⁺ TRMs, in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD19⁻MHCII⁻ cells. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM. *: p≤ 0.05, **: p≤ 0.01 as assessed by Mann-Whitney test. Non-significant differences (p > 0.05) are stated as ns.

3.2 The effect of sex hormones on lung resident immunity

Our next objective was to study the effect of sex hormones on lung resident immune cells. To this end, we conducted castration and ovariectomy in male and female mice respectively. Firstly, adult male C57BL/6 mice (n=5) underwent castration, while control male mice were sham operated (n=5), as described above. 14 days after the operation, we sacrificed the mice, following the protocol for the distinction of resident from the circulating CD45⁺ immune cells, as described above (Figure 5a). Of note, castration resulted in a reduction of most of the innate lung resident immune cell populations (Figure 5b). Specifically, significantly decreased infiltrating monocytes and interstitial macrophages were found in the lungs of castrated mice. Interestingly, lower alveolar macrophages were also found after castration, a difference that did not reach levels of significance though (Figure 5c-e). Infiltrating NK cells were also decreased after castration (Figure 5f). Moreover, lower frequencies of CD11b⁺ DCs, CD103⁺ DCs and pDCs were also observed after castration (Figure 5g-i). Regarding adaptive immunity, castrated mice presented higher frequencies of infiltrating CD8+ T cells and a non-statistically significant trend of higher CD8+ TRM, in their lungs (Figure 5j).

The next step was to perform ovariectomy to female C57BL/6 mice (n=5). Sham operated female mice served as controls (n=5). 14 days after the operation, the mice were sacrificed and the same protocol for distinguishing the resident immune cells was followed (Figure 6a). No statistically significant differences were observed after ovariectomy both in the innate and the adaptive lung resident immunity (Figure 6b-6h).





(A) Graphic description of the experimental setup. Created with BioRender.com. (B) Heatmap depicting the frequency of innate infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of castrated (Cx) male

mice normalised to the frequency of innate infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of sham operated male mice. Resident CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells are the maternal population to which all frequencies are expressed. **(C-I)** Frequency (%) of infiltrating (c) alveolar macrophages, (d) monocytes, (e) interstitial macrophages, (f) NK cells, (g) CD103⁺ DCs, (h) CD11b⁺ DCs, and (i) pDCs, in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells. **(J)** Heatmap depicting the frequency of adaptive infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of castrated male mice normalised to the frequency of adaptive infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of sham operated male mice. **(K)** Frequency (%) of infiltrating B cells in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells. **(L)** Frequency (%) of infiltrating CD45⁺CD19⁻MHCII⁻ cells. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. *: p< 0.05, **: p< 0.01 as assessed by Mann-Whitney test. Non-significant differences (p > 0.05) are stated as ns.

3.3 The effect of sex hormones on the airway epithelial barrier

Lung resident microenvironment consists not only of the lung resident immune cells, but also of the respiratory epithelium. Thus, we studied also the effect of sex hormones on the integrity of the airway epithelial barrier. Firstly, we investigated the influence of androgens using castration. 30 days after post operation, we sacrificed the mice, collected the lungs and after embedding them in paraffin and staining them with a fluorescent anti-ZO1 antibody, we assessed the integrity of the tight junctions in the airway epithelium (Figure 7a, b). No significant differences were observed in the tight junction disruption between castrated and sham operated male mice. (Figure 7c).

As a next step, female adult C57BL/6 mice were ovariectomised or sham operated and 30 days post operation, the same procedure was followed in order to study the effect of ovariectomy on tight junction integrity (Figure 7 d, e). Also here, no statistically significant difference in the integrity of the tight junctions could be observed between the groups.





(A) Graphic description of the experimental setup. Created with BioRender.com. (B) Heatmap depicting the frequency of innate infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of female ovariectomised (Ox) mice normalised to the frequency of innate infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of female sham operated mice. Resident CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells are the maternal population to which all frequencies are expressed. (C-F) Frequency (%) of infiltrating (c) neutrophils, (d) eosinophils, (e) NK cells, (f) monocytes, in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells. (G) Heatmap depicting the frequency of adaptive infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of female ovariectomised mice,

normalised to the frequency of adaptive infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of female sham operated mice. **(H)** Frequency (%) of infiltrating B cells in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM. Non-significant differences (p > 0.05) are stated as ns, as assessed by Mann-Whitney test.



Figure 7 The influence of sex hormones on the airway epithelial barrier. (A) Graphic description of the experimental setup. Created with BioRender.com. (B) Representative images of lung sections from sham operated and castrated (Cx) male mice, after

immunofluorescence staining with anti-ZO-1 (red; tight junctions) and Hoechst 33258 (blue; nuclei). Arrows indicate lesions in tight junction barrier within the bronchial epithelium. **(C)** Semiquantative analysis of tight junction disruption in the lungs of sham operated and castrated (Cx) male mice. **(D)** Graphic description of the experimental setup. Created with BioRender.com **(E)** Representative images of lung sections from sham operated and ovariectomised (Ox) female mice, after immunofluorescence staining with anti-ZO-1 (red; tight junctions) and Hoechst 33258 (blue; nuclei). Arrows indicate lesions in tight junction barrier within the bronchial epithelium. **(F)** Semiquantative analysis of tight junction disruption in the lungs of sham and ovariectomised (Ox) female mice. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. Non-significant differences (p > 0.05) are stated as ns, as assessed by Mann-Whitney test.

3.4 Effect of testosterone administration on lung resident immunity of female mice

Since castration, and thus testosterone manipulation, strongly affected lung resident immunity, we administered testosterone to female mice to test the effect of such a supplementation on lung resident immunity. Testosterone implants were implanted to 5 adult C57BL/6 female mice, while 5 untreated age-matched female mice served as controls (Figure 8a). 14 days after the implantation, the mice were sacrificed, following the protocol for the distinction of the resident from the circulating CD45⁺ immune cells, as described above (Figure 8a). Upon administration of testosterone, some lung resident innate immune cell populations were increased, while others were decreased (Figure 8b-8f). Specifically, the frequency of neutrophilssignificantly increased upon testosterone administration (Figure 8e). Regarding adaptive resident immunity, all examined cell populations were reduced after testosterone administration (Figure 8g). Of note, the only statistically significant reduction was found in infiltrating B cells (Figure 8h).





(A) Graphic description of the experimental setup. Created with BioRender.com. (B) Heatmap depicting the frequency of innate infiltrating immune cells in the lungs of female testosterone-treated mice normalised to control female mice. (C-F) Frequency (%) of infiltrating (c) CD11b⁺ DCs (d) pDCs, (e) neutrophils, and (f) alveolar macrophages in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells. (G) Heatmap depicting the frequency of adaptive infiltrating immune cells in the lung of female testosterone-treated mice normalised to control female mice. (H) Frequency (%) of infiltrating B cells in all infiltrating CD45⁺CD3⁻ cells. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. **: p≤ 0.01, as assessed by Mann-Whitney test. Non-significant differences (p > 0.05) are stated as ns.

4. Discussion

Sex differences in respiratory diseases are largely recognized [215], while previous evidence, mainly originating from epidemiological studies, identify sex hormones as the main contributors to the sex bias observed in most cases [216]. Here, in order to better understand the sexual dimorphism of respiratory diseases, we examined the sex differences in lung resident immunity and in the airway epithelial barrier in healthy adult mice and the influence of sex hormones on these two important components of the lung microenvironment. The fact that most lung resident immune cell populations express the ER α and/or Er β , the progesterone receptor (PR) and the androgen receptor (AR), both in murine and in human lungs, supports our hypothesis [217]. The same receptors are expressed by both the bronchial and the alveolar epithelium [218,219]. Our results revealed higher resident macrophages in the male lung and a significant effect of testosterone on some of the here examined cells, while the higher frequencies of DCs and CD4+ TRM, found in female lung, could not be explained by an estrogen-mediated effect. Our first results indicated higher frequencies of infiltrating monocytes and alveolar macrophages in the mouse male lungs. On the other hand, mouse female lungs exhibited higher frequencies of CD103⁺ DCs, pDCs and CD4⁺ TRMs. In accordance to this finding, females are characterized by a greater DC activation and inflammatory response and exhibit a higher CD4⁺ cell count and CD4⁺/CD8⁺ ratio [220–224]. Males are also known to have a higher count of NK cells [220], with our results showing only a non-significant trend of higher lung residing NK cells in male mice. A similar weak trend was found for the infiltrating neutrophils in the male lung, with other studies demonstrating higher circulating neutrophils in male mice [225].

Despite the fact that sex differences in innate immunity have been previously described [226], most of the studies conducted until now focused on circulating immune cell populations and did not examine potential sex-specific differences in lung resident immunity. To our knowledge, our study is the first one focusing on sex differences in lung resident immunity, which uses an established method for detecting tissue resident immune cells, namely the *in vivo* intravenous immune cell labeling [209]. A previous study focusing on sex differences in immune resident cells of pleural and peritoneal cavities [227] conducted a basic immunophenotyping of F4/80⁺, CD4⁺, CD8⁺ T and B cells without using any of the proposed techniques for distinguishing the circulating from the resident immune cells [214], and found higher numbers of CD3+ T cells in the pleural cavity of female mice.

The analysis of the lungs from castrated and sham operated male mice yielded a striking result for most of the innate lung resident immune cell populations. Specifically, we observed a reduction in the frequencies of all resident macrophages, monocytes, DCs and NK cells. Regarding lung resident monocytes and macrophages, no effect of TES in the recruitment and numbers of these cells in the lung has been reported before. As mentioned above, there is no available study in the literature investigating specifically the lung resident immunity, so our results can only be compared with data regarding mainly circulating cells. Studies working with blood samples have shown that androgens lead to decreased production of cytokines and other mediators by these cells, indicating a potential immunosuppressive effect. Specifically, after TES exposure, TLR-mediated responses of human monocyte-derived macrophages and murine peritoneal macrophages were decreased [228,229], while synthesis of TNF, iNOS and NO by these cells was also reduced [230]. Moreover, TES reduced the production of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α by human macrophages and human monocytes and enhanced the expression of IL-10 in both human and murine macrophages [230,231]. It has been found that TES also reduces NK cell activity in murine spleen, which is the opposite effect of what we found in the lung. The influence of TES on DCs is not well studied, it is however known that 5 α -DHT reduces the stimulation of T-cell cytokine secretion (IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13) by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells, *in vitro* [232]. In accordance to our findings, neutrophils are intensively diminished after genetic AR depletion in mice, while androgens stimulate the proliferation of neutrophils via the modulation of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) [233].

The strong increasing effect of castration on lung infiltrating B cells, that we observed here, agrees with literature showing that castration increases the number of B cells in the spleen and in the bone marrow [234,235]. Cross-sectional studies have also demonstrated that men with androgen deficiencies have higher blood CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell levels [236,237]. Castration in mice has also been shown to increase the numbers of these cells [238]. In line with these findings, we here observed a significantly higher frequency of infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells in the lung after castration.

In spite of the fact that no statistically significant effects on lung resident immune cells were observed after ovariectomy in female mice, we observed some non-significant trends. We need to clarify here that the model of ovariectomy can be sometimes confusing in finding interpretation, as the higher amounts of both main female sex hormones, namely estrogens and progesterone, are produced in the ovaries in different phases of the menstrual cycle and these hormones can have opposite effects on the targeted cells [239]. Data derived from blood samples have shown that estrogens augment neutrophils in blood [240,241] and reduce eosinophils and monocytes [242][243]. We have to mention that most of the studies about different lung diseases show that estrogens lead to higher production of cytokines by macrophages, but progesterone has exactly the opposite effect [242]. The same happens with the effect of estrogens and progesterone on DCs as the former are considered to enhance DC activation and consequently cytokine production, and the latter to have again the opposite effect [244], with no clear information about the effect of female sex hormones on DC numbers or frequencies. Progesterone also has been shown to increase the number of NK cells [245]. As far as the adaptive immunity is concerned, estrogens have been suggested to inhibit B-cell

lymphopoiesis by diminishing the precursors, pro-B cell, pre-B cell, and mature B cells from the bone marrow [246]. Also, in this study the same effect is shown, as an increasing trend of B cells after ovariectomy is observed. Studies with rats have shown that ovariectomy leads to an increased percentage of CD4-CD8+ cells in the thymus [247,248]. We here observed no strong effect of ovariectomy on all studied lung resident innate cell populations, even though most of the non-significant trends were in line with what described above.

Taken together, we can conclude that sex hormones account for some of the here observed sex differences in lung resident immunity, but not for all. Higher frequencies of lung resident macrophages and monocytes in males in combination with their reduction after castration demonstrate that androgens might underline the sex differences seen in these lung residing cell populations. However, testosterone supplementation of female mice resulted in only minor augmentation of the lung resident macrophages and monocytes, indicating an effect of androgens on these cells that can probably be counteracted by other factors in the female lung. Very interesting was the finding of higher resident pDCs and CD103⁺ DCs in the female lung together with the non-significant trend of lower pDCs and CD103⁺ DCs in the lungs of testosterone-supplemented females. These results could be interpreted as a suppressive effect of androgens on these cells, even though castration led to lower frequencies of these two cell populations, highlighting again that additional factors to sex hormones may affect lung resident immunity. Regarding CD11b⁺ DCs, no sex differences were observed, but a strong reduction and an increasing trend of these cells was observed after castration in males and after testosterone supplementation in females, respectively. Thus, the effect of androgens on CD11b⁺ DCs is similar to the one on monocytes, which is rational due to their common myeloid origin.

Increased TRM cells were found in female mouse lungs. CD4⁺ TRMs were not significantly affected upon sex hormone manipulation, but the slightly increased CD8+ TRMs in the lungs of castrated males and their decrease in the lungs of testosterone-treated females indicate a likely suppressive androgen effect on CD8+ TRM cells. Of note, androgens were found to profoundly affect infiltrating neutrophils and B cells residing in the mouse lungs. After castration, neutrophils were decreased and B cells were significantly increased, while the opposite effect was observed after testosterone supplementation in female mice. Consequently, androgens seem to regulate negatively the lung resident B cells and positively the neutrophils residing in the lung, in accordance to other studies focusing on the circulating counterparts of these immune cell populations.

The difference between sex and gender was explained above, and we need here to highlight that gender aspects were out of the aims of the current study. We focused on the effect of sex hormones on the establishment of sex differences in the lung tissue microenvironment, but besides hormones, genetic and environmental factors are able to modulate also the tissue microenvironment in a sex-specific way [242]. By using age-matched mice of the same strain, which are kept under standardized common conditions, the effect of environmental and agerelated factors can be minimized. Nevertheless, the difference in sex chromosomes between male (XY) and female organisms (XX), might also -at least partially- account for the observed sexual dimorphism in lung resident immunity. In humans, the X chromosome contains more than 1,100 genes (approximately 5% of the human genome), including some genes essentially involved in the function of the immune system, coding proteins like IL-receptors and TLR [249]. On the other hand, the Y chromosome contains only around 100 genes, including some genes that regulate immune responses. Both in males and females only one X chromosome is active, since in females a X chromosome inactivation takes place in order to balance the expression of X-linked genes between the sexes. However, 3% of the genes in the murine and 15% in the human X chromosome escape the inactivation thereby leading to a "mosaic function" of some genes, that varies among tissues [250]. It has been supported that this mosaicism offers to females an advantage of more rapid and effective immune responses compared to males [226]. The most representative example, supporting the effect of sex chromosomes on immunity, is that men with Klinefelter syndrome (bearing three sex chromosomes, XXY) exhibit higher B and CD4⁺ T cell numbers as well as increased CD4⁺/CD8⁺ T cell ratios compared to XY males [251], an immune phenotype similar to females. Interestingly, many of these differences are reversed by testosterone therapy [251], indicating the mixed effect of both sex chromosomes and sex hormones on immunity. Such a mixed effect could likely explain our findings showing that sex hormone manipulation alone cannot reverse or induce the sexual dimorphism seen in lung resident immunity.

As far as the airway epithelium is concerned, sex hormone manipulation had no effect on the integrity of the airway epithelial barrier. However, ovariectomy was associated with slightly enhanced tight junction integrity, a finding suggesting an improved barrier function upon lower estrogen levels. In line with this, a study focusing on the function of the epithelial barrier *in vitro* showed that higher concentrations of 17-b-estradiol resulted in decreased occludin levels and increased paracellular permeability [252]. The fact that no strong effect could be here observed can be at least partially explained by the fact that no challenge capable of severely disrupting the integrity of the airway epithelial barrier was used.

Here, we highlight the sexual dimorphism of the local lung tissue microenvironment and especially of lung resident immunity in healthy mice. Given the important role of the lung resident immunity and the airway epithelial barrier not only in the protection from lung diseases, but also in their pathogenesis [160,214], such sex differences may differentially shape disease susceptibility, manifestation and outcome in male and female individuals. Importantly, sex hormones seem to impact these sex differences by acting on lung resident immune cells and shaping mounted responses. Further investigation is needed to reveal the disease-specific role

of the local lung tissue microenvironment and the exact mechanistic pathways determining the sex bias seen in such a context. Finding ways to more efficiently treat the more susceptible to every lung disease sex can substantially improve life quality and disease prognosis.

5. Summary

Sex differences in prevalence, morbidity and mortality of lung diseases are well established. For example, adult women are more susceptible to influenza infection and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. On the other hand, adult men experience worse outcomes in pneumococcal pneumonia and squamous cell carcinoma. Although sex hormones have been proposed to account for such sex differences, their exact impact on local tissue microenvironment, lung function and thus, the pathogenesis of lung diseases has not been fully clarified. Major compartments of the lung tissue microenvironment are the respiratory epithelium and the lung resident immunity. Given the fact that hormone receptors, including estrogen and androgen receptors, are expressed both on most immune cell subtypes and on the respiratory epithelium, sex hormones may affect lung tissue resident immunity in a sex-specific manner, subsequently leading to a sex-specific manifestation of respiratory immune diseases.

Our aim was to investigate sex differences in lung tissue microenvironment, including lung resident immunity and the respiratory epithelium, and identify the potential role of sex hormones in this context.

To this aim, firstly, through flow cytometry of cell isolated from the lung of male and female adult C57BL/6 mice, we characterized the sexual dimorphism of tissue resident immunity in the naïve lung. Our next step was to investigate the impact of sex hormones on lung tissue resident immunity. Male and female mice underwent castration or ovariectomy, respectively and after 14 days the mice were sacrificed and their lungs were collected for immune characterization with flow cytometry or histological assessment of the integrity of the respiratory epithelial barrier. Finally, assessment of lung resident immunity was also performed upon testosterone supplementation of female mice.

Our results indicate that males have increased alveolar macrophages and lung residing monocytes, while females have more lung resident CD103⁺ DCs, pDCs and CD4+ TRM cells. Castration resulted in a reduction of lung resident DCs, infiltrating monocytes, interstitial macrophages and lung resident NK cells, while infiltrating B and CD8+ cells in the lung were intensively augmented. In line with these findings, B cells were also significantly decreased and neutrophils increased after testosterone supplementation of female mice. No profound alterations in lung resident immunity were observed after ovariectomy.

This study indicates the existence of sex differences in the lung microenvironment which are likely mediated by sex hormones. These findings shed light into the sex-specific manifestation of respiratory immune diseases and could set the basis for novel personalized therapeutic approaches in this context.

5. Zusammenfassung

Geschlechtsspezifische Unterschiede spiegeln sich in der Prävalenz, Morbidität und Mortalität von Lungenkrankheiten wider. Beispielsweise sind adulte Frauen anfälliger für Influenza-Infektionen und chronisch-obstruktive Lungenerkrankungen. Wohingegen adulte Männer ein schlechterer Outcome bei einer Pneumokokken-Pneumonien und dem Plattenepithelkarzinom Obwohl die Hypothese besteht. dass Geschlechtshormone für haben. diese Geschlechtsunterschiede verantwortlich sind, ist ihre genaue Auswirkung auf die lokale Mikroumgebung des Gewebes, die Lungenfunktion und damit die Pathogenese von Lungenkrankheiten noch nicht vollständig geklärt. Die wichtigsten Kompartimente der Mikroumgebung des Lungengewebes sind das Atmungsepithel und die residenten Immunzellen der Lunge. Hormonrezeptoren, einschließlich Östrogenund Androgenrezeptoren, sind auf den meisten Immunzellsubtypen sowie auf dem respiratorischen Epithel exprimiert, wodurch Sexualhormone die lungengewebsresidente Immunität auf geschlechtsspezifische Weise beeinflussen können, was einer zu geschlechtsspezifischen Manifestation von Lungenimmunerkrankungen führt.

Unser Ziel war es, die Geschlechtsunterschiede in der Mikroumgebung des Lungengewebes, einschließlich der lungenresidenten Immunität und des Atmungsepithels, zu untersuchen und die mögliche Rolle der Geschlechtshormone in diesem Zusammenhang zu ermitteln.

Zu diesem Zweck haben wir zunächst den Geschlechtsdimorphismus der gewebeeigenen Immunität in gesunden Lungen, die von männlichen und weiblichen erwachsenen C57BL/6-Mäusen entnommen wurden, mittels Durchflusszytometrie charakterisiert. In einem nächsten Schritt untersuchten wir die Auswirkungen der Geschlechtshormone auf die Immunität des Lungengewebes. Hierfür wurden männliche und weibliche Mäuse kastriert oder ovarektomiert. Nach 14 Tagen wurden die Mäuse getötet und ihre Lungen für die Immuncharakterisierung mittels Durchflusszytometrie oder die histologische Beurteilung der Integrität der Atemwegsepithelbarriere entnommen. Schließlich wurde die lungenresidente Immunität auch nach einer Testosterongabe weiblicher Mäuse untersucht.

Unsere Ergebnisse zeigen, dass die männlichen Mäuse vermehrt alveoläre Makrophagen und lungenresidente Monozyten aufweisen, während weibliche Mäuse mehr lungenresidente CD103+ Dendritic Cells (DCs), pDCs und CD4+ TRM-Zellen haben. Die Kastration führte zu einer Verringerung der lungenansässigen DCs, der infiltrierenden Monozyten, der interstitiellen Makrophagen und der lungenansässigen NK-Zellen, während die infiltrierenden B- und CD8+-Zellen in der Lunge stark vermehrt waren. In Übereinstimmung mit diesen Ergebnissen waren nach der Testosteron-Supplementierung von weiblichen Mäusen auch die B-Zellen signifikant verringert und die Neutrophilen erhöht. Die Ovarektomie resultierte in keiner tiefgreifenden Veränderungen der lungeneigenen Immunität.

Diese Studie deutet auf Geschlechtsunterschiede in der Mikroumgebung der Lunge hin, die wahrscheinlich durch Sexualhormone vermittelt werden. Diese Ergebnisse geben Aufschluss über die geschlechtsspezifische Ausprägung von Immunkrankheiten der Atemwege und könnten die Grundlage für neue personalisierte therapeutische Ansätze in diesem Zusammenhang bilden.

6. Abbrevations

5α-DHT	5α-dihydrotestosterone
AAI	Allergic airway inflammation
AJ	Adherens junctions
AM	Alveolar macrophages
AR	Androgen receptor
BALT	Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue
BST-2.	Bone marrow stromal antigen-2
CCI	C-C motif ligand
CCR	C-C chemokine receptors
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CDC	Center for Disease Control and Prevention
cDCs	Conventional Dendritic Cells
CE	Cystic Fibrosis
CETR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator
	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
	Corona Virus Disease 2019
	CYC chemoking recentor
	Dopdritio Collo
	Ethylonediaminetetraeeetie eeid eelution
	Estrogen receptor
	Fetal call seturi
FSC	Forward scatter
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
ILCs	Innate lymphoid cells
ILD	Interstitial lung diseases
IM	Interstitial macrophages
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IPAF	Interstitial Pneumonia with Autoimmune Features
IPF	Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis
JAM	Junctional adhesion molecules
L-VDCCs	L-type voltage dependent Ca2+ channels
LTi	Lymphoid tissue inducer cells
M. tuberculosis	Mycobacterium tuberculosis
MHCII	Major histocompatibility complex
moDCs	Monocyte-derived Dendritic Cells
NK	Natural killer cells
NO	Nitric oxide
NRS	Normal rat serum
NS1	Non-structural protein 1
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
OZLN	Occludins
PDCA-1	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell antigen-1
pDCs	Plasmacvtoid Dendritic Cells
PFA	Paraformaldehvde
PMA	Perimenstrual asthma
PR	Progesterone Receptor
RAMDs	Repair-associated memory depots
RORvt	Retinoic acid-related orphan recentor-vt
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus
S pneumoniae	Streptococcus pneumoniae
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor

SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus type 2
SSC	Side scatter
TAMs.	Tumor-associated macrophages
TEER	Transepithelial Electrical Resistance
TES	Testosterone
Th	T helper cells
TJ	Tight junctions
TLR	Toll Like Receptor
TNF-a	Tumor Necrosis Factor a
Treg	Regulatory T cell
TRMs	Tissue resident memory cells
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphoprotein
WHO	World's Health Organization
ZO	Zonula Occludin

7. References

- 1. Wang, Y. Lung Inflammation in Health and Disease, Volume II; 2021; Vol. 1304; ISBN 978-3-030-68747-2.
- Groeneveld, J.M.; Ballering, A. V.; van Boven, K.; Akkermans, R.P.; Olde Hartman, T.C.; Uijen, A.A. Sex Differences in Incidence of Respiratory Symptoms and Management by General Practitioners. *Fam. Pract.* 2021, *37*, 631–636, doi:10.1093/FAMPRA/CMAA040.
- 3. Jin, J.M.; Bai, P.; He, W.; Wu, F.; Liu, X.F.; Han, D.M.; Liu, S.; Yang, J.K. Gender Differences in Patients With COVID-19: Focus on Severity and Mortality. *Front. Public Health* **2020**, *8*, 1–6, doi:10.3389/fpubh.2020.00152.
- 4. Bewley, S.; McCartney, M.; Meads, C.; Rogers, A. Sex, Gender, and Medical Data. *The BMJ* **2021**, *372*, 10–11, doi:10.1136/bmj.n735.
- 5. Papi, A.; Brightling, C.; Pedersen, S.E.; Reddel, H.K. Asthma. *The Lancet* **2018**, *391*, 783–800, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33311-1.
- 6. Zein, J.G.; Dweik, R.A.; Comhair, S.A.; Bleecker, E.R.; Moore, W.C.; Peters, S.P.; Busse, W.W.; Jarjour, N.N.; Calhoun, W.J.; Castro, M.; et al. Asthma Is More Severe in Older Adults. *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, 1–13, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0133490.
- Jarjour, N.N.; Erzurum, S.C.; Bleecker, E.R.; Calhoun, W.J.; Castro, M.; Comhair, S.A.A.; Chung, K.F.; Curran-Everett, D.; Dweik, R.A.; Fain, S.B.; et al. Severe Asthma: Lessons Learned from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Severe Asthma Research Program. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 2012, *185*, 356–362, doi:10.1164/rccm.201107-1317PP.
- 8. Chowdhury, N.U.; Guntur, V.P.; Newcomb, D.C.; Wechsler, M.E. Sex and Gender in Asthma. *Eur. Respir. Rev.* **2021**, *30*, doi:10.1183/16000617.0067-2021.
- Farha, S.; Asosingh, K.; Laskowski, D.; Hammel, J.; Dweik, R.; Wiedemann, H.; Erzurum, S. Respiratory Function in Asthmatic Women over Time of the Menstrual Cycle. 2009, A1306, doi:10.1164/ajrccmconference.2009.179.1 meetingabstracts.a1306.
- 10. Murphy, V.E.; Gibson, P.G. Asthma in Pregnancy. *Clin. Chest Med.* **2011**, *32*, 93–110, doi:10.1016/j.ccm.2010.10.001.
- 11. GOLD Commitee GOLD-REPORT-2021-v1.1-25Nov20_WMV.Pdf 2021, 12–19.
- 12. Stolz, D.; Kostikas, K.; Loefroth, E.; Fogel, R.; Gutzwiller, F.S.; Conti, V.; Cao, H.; Clemens, A. Differences in COPD Exacerbation Risk Between Women and Men: Analysis From the UK Clinical Practice Research Datalink Data. *Chest* **2019**, *156*, 674–684, doi:10.1016/j.chest.2019.04.107.
- D.L., D.; S., R.; A., K.; A., V.; M.K., H.; A., Y.; T.K., W.; B.J., M. Women Manifest More Severe COPD Symptoms across the Life Course. *Int. J. COPD* 2018, *13*, 3021– 3029.
- 14. Shteinberg, M.; Flume, P.A.; Chalmers, J.D. Is Bronchiectasis Really a Disease? *Eur. Respir. Rev.* **2020**, *29*, 1–10, doi:10.1183/16000617.0051-2019.
- Dhar, R.; Singh, S.; Talwar, D.; Mohan, M.; Tripathi, S.K.; Swarnakar, R.; Trivedi, S.; Rajagopala, S.; D'Souza, G.; Padmanabhan, A.; et al. Bronchiectasis in India: Results from the European Multicentre Bronchiectasis Audit and Research Collaboration (EMBARC) and Respiratory Research Network of India Registry. *Lancet Glob. Health* 2019, 7, e1269–e1279, doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30327-4.
- McDonnell, M.J.; Aliberti, S.; Goeminne, P.C.; Restrepo, M.I.; Finch, S.; Pesci, A.; Dupont, L.J.; Fardon, T.C.; Wilson, R.; Loebinger, M.R.; et al. Comorbidities and the Risk of Mortality in Patients with Bronchiectasis: An International Multicentre Cohort Study. *Lancet Respir. Med.* 2016, *4*, 969–979, doi:10.1016/S2213-2600(16)30320-4.
- 17. Davis, P.B.; Drumm, M.; Konstan, M.W. Cystic Fibrosis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **1996**, *154*, 1229–1256, doi:10.1164/ajrccm.154.5.8912731.

- Harness-Brumley, C.L.; Elliott, A.C.; Rosenbluth, D.B.; Raghavan, D.; Jain, R. Gender Differences in Outcomes of Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. *J. Womens Health 2002* 2014, 23, 1012–1020, doi:10.1089/jwh.2014.4985.
- 19. Raghu, G.; Weycker, D.; Edelsberg, J.; Bradford, W.Z.; Oster, G. Incidence and Prevalence of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **2006**, *174*, 810–816, doi:10.1164/rccm.200602-163OC.
- 20. Gerke, A.K.; Judson, M.A.; Cozier, Y.C.; Culver, D.A.; Koth, L.L. Disease Burden and Variability in Sarcoidosis. *Ann. Am. Thorac. Soc.* **2017**, *14*, S421–S428, doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201707-564OT.
- 21. Ngo, S.T.; Steyn, F.J.; McCombe, P.A. Gender Differences in Autoimmune Disease. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* **2014**, *35*, 347–369, doi:10.1016/j.yfrne.2014.04.004.
- Sambataro, G.; Sambataro, D.; Torrisi, S.E.; Vancheri, A.; Colaci, M.; Pavone, M.; Pignataro, F.; Del Papa, N.; Palmucci, S.; Vancheri, C. Clinical, Serological and Radiological Features of a Prospective Cohort of Interstitial Pneumonia with Autoimmune Features (IPAF) Patients. *Respir. Med.* 2019, *150*, 154–160, doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2019.03.011.
- Lahm, T.; Tuder, R.M.; Petrache, I. Progress in Solving the Sex Hormone Paradox in Pulmonary Hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. - Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2014, 307, doi:10.1152/ajplung.00337.2013.
- Jemal, A.; Thun, M.J.; Ries, L.A.G.; Howe, H.L.; Weir, H.K.; Center, M.M.; Ward, E.; Wu, X.C.; Eheman, C.; Anderson, R.; et al. Annual Report to the Nation on the Status of Cancer, 1975-2005, Featuring Trends in Lung Cancer, Tobacco Use, and Tobacco Control. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2008, 100, 1672–1694, doi:10.1093/jnci/djn389.
- 25. Stapelfeld, C.; Dammann, C.; Maser, E. Sex-Specificity in Lung Cancer Risk. *Int. J. Cancer* **2020**, *146*, 2376–2382, doi:10.1002/ijc.32716.
- 26. CDC Lung Cancer Statistics Available online: www.cdc.gov/uscs.
- 27. Rivera, G.A.; Wakelee, H. Lung Cancer in Never Smokers. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **2016**, *893*, 43–57, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-24223-1_3.
- Minaret, H.; Yoshimura, M.; Miyamoto, Y.; Matsuoka, H.; Tsubota, N. Lung Cancer in Women: Sex-Associated Differences in Survival of Patients Undergoing Resection for Lung Cancer. *Chest* 2000, *118*, 1603–1609, doi:10.1378/chest.118.6.1603.
- 29. Morgan, R.; Klein, S.L. The Intersection of Sex and Gender in the Treatment of Influenza. *Curr. Opin. Virol.* **2019**, *35*, 35–41, doi:10.1016/j.coviro.2019.02.009.
- Vom Steeg, L.G.; Klein, S.L. Sex and Sex Steroids Impact Influenza Pathogenesis across the Life Course. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 2019, *41*, 189–194, doi:10.1007/s00281-018-0718-5.
- 31. Sawyer, C.C. Child Mortality Estimation: Estimating Sex Differences in Childhood Mortality since the 1970s. *PLoS Med.* **2012**, *9*, doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001287.
- Grasselli, G.; Zangrillo, A.; Zanella, A.; Antonelli, M.; Cabrini, L.; Castelli, A.; Cereda, D.; Coluccello, A.; Foti, G.; Fumagalli, R.; et al. Baseline Characteristics and Outcomes of 1591 Patients Infected with SARS-CoV-2 Admitted to ICUs of the Lombardy Region, Italy. *JAMA - J. Am. Med. Assoc.* 2020, *323*, 1574–1581, doi:10.1001/jama.2020.5394.
- Guan, W.; Ni, Z.; Hu, Y.; Liang, W.; Ou, C.; He, J.; Liu, L.; Shan, H.; Lei, C.; Hui, D.S.C.; et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2020, *382*, 1708–1720, doi:10.1056/nejmoa2002032.
- Casimir, G.J.; Lefèvre, N.; Corazza, F.; Duchateau, J. Sex and Inflammation in Respiratory Diseases: A Clinical Viewpoint. *Biol. Sex Differ.* 2013, *4*, doi:10.1186/2042-6410-4-16.
- Hewitt, R.J.; Lloyd, C.M. Regulation of Immune Responses by the Airway Epithelial Cell Landscape. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2021, *21*, 347–362, doi:10.1038/s41577-020-00477-9.

- Sun, H.; Sun, C.; Xiao, W.; Sun, R. Tissue-Resident Lymphocytes: From Adaptive to Innate Immunity. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 2019, *16*, 205–215, doi:10.1038/s41423-018-0192-y.
- 37. Ardain, A.; Marakalala, M.J.; Leslie, A. Tissue-Resident Innate Immunity in the Lung. *Immunology* **2020**, *159*, 245–256, doi:10.1111/imm.13143.
- Yuan, R.; Yu, J.; Jiao, Z.; Li, J.; Wu, F.; Yan, R.; Huang, X.; Chen, C. The Roles of Tissue-Resident Memory T Cells in Lung Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 2021, *12*, 710375, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.710375.
- 39. Kopf, M.; Schneider, C.; Nobs, S.P. The Development and Function of Lung-Resident Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **2015**, *16*, 36–44, doi:10.1038/ni.3052.
- Smit, J.J.; Rudd, B.D.; Lukacs, N.W. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Inhibit Pulmonary Immunopathology and Promote Clearance of Respiratory Syncytial Virus. *J. Exp. Med.* 2006, 203, 1153–1159, doi:10.1084/jem.20052359.
- Purnama, C.; Ng, S.L.; Tetlak, P.; Setiagani, Y.A.; Kandasamy, M.; Baalasubramanian, S.; Karjalainen, K.; Ruedl, C. Transient Ablation of Alveolar Macrophages Leads to Massive Pathology of Influenza Infection without Affecting Cellular Adaptive Immunity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2014, 44, 2003–2012, doi:10.1002/eji.201344359.
- 42. Kolli, D.; Gupta, M.R.; Sbrana, E.; Velayutham, T.S.; Chao, H.; Casola, A.; Garofalo, R.P. Alveolar Macrophages Contribute to the Pathogenesis of Human Metapneumovirus Infection While Protecting against Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **2014**, *51*, 502–515, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2013-0414OC.
- Kumagai, Y.; Takeuchi, O.; Kato, H.; Kumar, H.; Matsui, K.; Morii, E.; Aozasa, K.; Kawai, T.; Akira, S. Alveolar Macrophages Are the Primary Interferon-Alpha Producer in Pulmonary Infection with RNA Viruses. *Immunity* 2007, *27*, 240–252, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.07.013.
- 44. Kosyreva, A.; Dzhalilova, D.; Lokhonina, A.; Vishnyakova, P.; Fatkhudinov, T. The Role of Macrophages in the Pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2-Associated Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 682871, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.682871.
- Wang, C.; Xie, J.; Zhao, L.; Fei, X.; Zhang, H.; Tan, Y.; Nie, X.; Zhou, L.; Liu, Z.; Ren, Y.; et al. Alveolar Macrophage Dysfunction and Cytokine Storm in the Pathogenesis of Two Severe COVID-19 Patients. *EBioMedicine* 2020, *57*, 102833, doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102833.
- Blanco-Melo, D.; Nilsson-Payant, B.E.; Liu, W.-C.; Uhl, S.; Hoagland, D.; Møller, R.; Jordan, T.X.; Oishi, K.; Panis, M.; Sachs, D.; et al. Imbalanced Host Response to SARS-CoV-2 Drives Development of COVID-19. *Cell* 2020, *181*, 1036-1045.e9, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.026.
- 47. Famà, A.; Midiri, A.; Mancuso, G.; Biondo, C.; Lentini, G.; Galbo, R.; Giardina, M.M.; De Gaetano, G.V.; Romeo, L.; Teti, G.; et al. Nucleic Acid-Sensing Toll-Like Receptors Play a Dominant Role in Innate Immune Recognition of Pneumococci. *mBio* **2020**, *11*, e00415-20, doi:10.1128/mBio.00415-20.
- 48. Bewley, M.A.; Marriott, H.M.; Tulone, C.; Francis, S.E.; Mitchell, T.J.; Read, R.C.; Chain, B.; Kroemer, G.; Whyte, M.K.B.; Dockrell, D.H. A Cardinal Role for Cathepsin d in Co-Ordinating the Host-Mediated Apoptosis of Macrophages and Killing of Pneumococci. *PLoS Pathog.* **2011**, *7*, e1001262, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001262.
- Nicholson, S.; Bonecini-Almeida, M. da G.; Lapa e Silva, J.R.; Nathan, C.; Xie, Q.W.; Mumford, R.; Weidner, J.R.; Calaycay, J.; Geng, J.; Boechat, N.; et al. Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase in Pulmonary Alveolar Macrophages from Patients with Tuberculosis. *J. Exp. Med.* **1996**, *183*, 2293–2302, doi:10.1084/jem.183.5.2293.

- Aggarwal, N.R.; King, L.S.; D'Alessio, F.R. Diverse Macrophage Populations Mediate Acute Lung Inflammation and Resolution. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 2014, 306, L709-725, doi:10.1152/ajplung.00341.2013.
- Roberts, L.M.; Jessop, F.; Wehrly, T.D.; Bosio, C.M. Cutting Edge: Lung-Resident T Cells Elicited by SARS-CoV-2 Do Not Mediate Protection against Secondary Infection. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2021, 207, 2399–2404, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.2100608.
- 52. Schyns, J.; Bureau, F.; Marichal, T. Lung Interstitial Macrophages: Past, Present, and Future. J. Immunol. Res. 2018, 2018, 5160794, doi:10.1155/2018/5160794.
- Zasłona, Z.; Przybranowski, S.; Wilke, C.; van Rooijen, N.; Teitz-Tennenbaum, S.; Osterholzer, J.J.; Wilkinson, J.E.; Moore, B.B.; Peters-Golden, M. Resident Alveolar Macrophages Suppress, Whereas Recruited Monocytes Promote, Allergic Lung Inflammation in Murine Models of Asthma. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2014, 193, 4245–4253, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400580.
- 54. Fitzpatrick, A.M.; Holguin, F.; Teague, W.G.; Brown, L.A.S. Alveolar Macrophage Phagocytosis Is Impaired in Children with Poorly Controlled Asthma. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **2008**, *121*, 1372–1378, 1378.e1-3, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2008.03.008.
- 55. Fricker, M.; Gibson, P.G. Macrophage Dysfunction in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Asthma. *Eur. Respir. J.* **2017**, *50*, doi:10.1183/13993003.00196-2017.
- Loyher, P.-L.; Hamon, P.; Laviron, M.; Meghraoui-Kheddar, A.; Goncalves, E.; Deng, Z.; Torstensson, S.; Bercovici, N.; Baudesson de Chanville, C.; Combadière, B.; et al. Macrophages of Distinct Origins Contribute to Tumor Development in the Lung. *J. Exp. Med.* 2018, *215*, 2536–2553, doi:10.1084/jem.20180534.
- Fu, Y.; Pajulas, A.; Wang, J.; Zhou, B.; Cannon, A.; Cheung, C.C.L.; Zhang, J.; Zhou, H.; Fisher, A.J.; Omstead, D.T.; et al. Mouse Pulmonary Interstitial Macrophages Mediate the Pro-Tumorigenic Effects of IL-9. *Nat. Commun.* 2022, *13*, 3811, doi:10.1038/s41467-022-31596-7.
- 58. Misharin, A.V.; Morales-Nebreda, L.; Mutlu, G.M.; Budinger, G.R.S.; Perlman, H. Flow Cytometric Analysis of Macrophages and Dendritic Cell Subsets in the Mouse Lung. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **2013**, *49*, 503–510, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2013-0086MA.
- del Rio, M.-L.; Rodriguez-Barbosa, J.-I.; Kremmer, E.; Förster, R. CD103- and CD103+ Bronchial Lymph Node Dendritic Cells Are Specialized in Presenting and Cross-Presenting Innocuous Antigen to CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2007, 178, 6861–6866, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.11.6861.
- 60. Lambrecht, B.N.; Hammad, H. Lung Dendritic Cells in Respiratory Viral Infection and Asthma: From Protection to Immunopathology. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2012**, *30*, 243–270, doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075021.
- Demedts, I.K.; Brusselle, G.G.; Vermaelen, K.Y.; Pauwels, R.A. Identification and Characterization of Human Pulmonary Dendritic Cells. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 2005, *32*, 177–184, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2004-0279OC.
- GeurtsvanKessel, C.H.; Willart, M.A.M.; van Rijt, L.S.; Muskens, F.; Kool, M.; Baas, C.; Thielemans, K.; Bennett, C.; Clausen, B.E.; Hoogsteden, H.C.; et al. Clearance of Influenza Virus from the Lung Depends on Migratory Langerin+CD11b- but Not Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 2008, 205, 1621–1634, doi:10.1084/jem.20071365.
- Sánchez-Cerrillo, I.; Landete, P.; Aldave, B.; Sánchez-Alonso, S.; Sánchez-Azofra, A.; Marcos-Jiménez, A.; Ávalos, E.; Alcaraz-Serna, A.; de Los Santos, I.; Mateu-Albero, T.; et al. COVID-19 Severity Associates with Pulmonary Redistribution of CD1c+ DCs and Inflammatory Transitional and Nonclassical Monocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 2020, 130, 6290–6300, doi:10.1172/JCI140335.
- 64. Martin-Gayo, E.; Gao, C.; Chen, H.R.; Ouyang, Z.; Kim, D.; Kolb, K.E.; Shalek, A.K.; Walker, B.D.; Lichterfeld, M.; Yu, X.G. Immunological Fingerprints of Controllers

Developing Neutralizing HIV-1 Antibodies. *Cell Rep.* **2020**, *30*, 984-996.e4, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.12.087.

- 65. Rahmatpanah, F.; Agrawal, S.; Jaiswal, N.; Nguyen, H.M.; McClelland, M.; Agrawal, A. Airway Epithelial Cells Prime Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells to Respond to Pathogens via Secretion of Growth Factors. *Mucosal Immunol.* **2019**, *12*, 77–84, doi:10.1038/s41385-018-0097-1.
- Swiecki, M.; Omattage, N.S.; Brett, T.J. BST-2/Tetherin: Structural Biology, Viral Antagonism, and Immunobiology of a Potent Host Antiviral Factor. *Mol. Immunol.* 2013, 54, 132–139, doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2012.11.008.
- 67. Zhou, R.; To, K.K.-W.; Wong, Y.-C.; Liu, L.; Zhou, B.; Li, X.; Huang, H.; Mo, Y.; Luk, T.-Y.; Lau, T.T.-K.; et al. Acute SARS-CoV-2 Infection Impairs Dendritic Cell and T Cell Responses. *Immunity* **2020**, *53*, 864-877.e5, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2020.07.026.
- Chang, T.; Yang, J.; Deng, H.; Chen, D.; Yang, X.; Tang, Z.-H. Depletion and Dysfunction of Dendritic Cells: Understanding SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Front. Immunol.* 2022, 13, 843342, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.843342.
- 69. Rosendahl, A.; Bergmann, S.; Hammerschmidt, S.; Goldmann, O.; Medina, E. Lung Dendritic Cells Facilitate Extrapulmonary Bacterial Dissemination during Pneumococcal Pneumonia. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **2013**, *3*, 21, doi:10.3389/fcimb.2013.00021.
- 70. Takeda, K.; Akira, S. Toll-like Receptors in Innate Immunity. *Int. Immunol.* **2005**, *17*, 1–14, doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh186.
- Khader, S.A.; Partida-Sanchez, S.; Bell, G.; Jelley-Gibbs, D.M.; Swain, S.; Pearl, J.E.; Ghilardi, N.; Desauvage, F.J.; Lund, F.E.; Cooper, A.M. Interleukin 12p40 Is Required for Dendritic Cell Migration and T Cell Priming after Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection. J. Exp. Med. 2006, 203, 1805–1815, doi:10.1084/jem.20052545.
- 72. Eisenbarth, S.C. Dendritic Cell Subsets in T Cell Programming: Location Dictates Function. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2019**, *19*, 89–103, doi:10.1038/s41577-018-0088-1.
- 73. Lombardi, V.; Speak, A.O.; Kerzerho, J.; Szely, N.; Akbari, O. CD8α⁺β⁻ and CD8α⁺β⁺ Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Induce Foxp3⁺ Regulatory T Cells and Prevent the Induction of Airway Hyper-Reactivity. *Mucosal Immunol.* 2012, *5*, 432–443, doi:10.1038/mi.2012.20.
- Bernatchez, E.; Gold, M.J.; Langlois, A.; Lemay, A.-M.; Brassard, J.; Flamand, N.; Marsolais, D.; McNagny, K.M.; Blanchet, M.-R. Pulmonary CD103 Expression Regulates Airway Inflammation in Asthma. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 2015, *308*, L816-826, doi:10.1152/ajplung.00319.2014.
- 75. Mjösberg, J.; Spits, H. Human Innate Lymphoid Cells. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2016, 138, 1265–1276, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2016.09.009.
- 76. Gasteiger, G.; Fan, X.; Dikiy, S.; Lee, S.Y.; Rudensky, A.Y. Tissue Residency of Innate Lymphoid Cells in Lymphoid and Nonlymphoid Organs. *Science* **2015**, *350*, 981–985, doi:10.1126/science.aac9593.
- 77. Vivier, E.; Artis, D.; Colonna, M.; Diefenbach, A.; Di Santo, J.P.; Eberl, G.; Koyasu, S.; Locksley, R.M.; McKenzie, A.N.J.; Mebius, R.E.; et al. Innate Lymphoid Cells: 10 Years On. *Cell* 2018, 174, 1054–1066, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.07.017.
- Diefenbach, A.; Colonna, M.; Koyasu, S. Development, Differentiation, and Diversity of Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity* 2014, 41, 354–365, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.09.005.
- 79. Sonnenberg, G.F.; Artis, D. Innate Lymphoid Cells in the Initiation, Regulation and Resolution of Inflammation. *Nat. Med.* **2015**, *21*, 698–708, doi:10.1038/nm.3892.
- Monticelli, L.A.; Sonnenberg, G.F.; Abt, M.C.; Alenghat, T.; Ziegler, C.G.K.; Doering, T.A.; Angelosanto, J.M.; Laidlaw, B.J.; Yang, C.Y.; Sathaliyawala, T.; et al. Innate Lymphoid Cells Promote Lung-Tissue Homeostasis after Infection with Influenza Virus. *Nat. Immunol.* 2011, *12*, 1045–1054, doi:10.1031/ni.2131.

- Halim, T.Y.F.; Steer, C.A.; Mathä, L.; Gold, M.J.; Martinez-Gonzalez, I.; McNagny, K.M.; McKenzie, A.N.J.; Takei, F. Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Are Critical for the Initiation of Adaptive T Helper 2 Cell-Mediated Allergic Lung Inflammation. *Immunity* 2014, 40, 425–435, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.011.
- 82. Ebbo, M.; Crinier, A.; Vély, F.; Vivier, E. Innate Lymphoid Cells: Major Players in Inflammatory Diseases. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2017**, *17*, 665–678, doi:10.1038/nri.2017.86.
- Weizman, O.-E.; Adams, N.M.; Schuster, I.S.; Krishna, C.; Pritykin, Y.; Lau, C.; Degli-Esposti, M.A.; Leslie, C.S.; Sun, J.C.; O'Sullivan, T.E. ILC1 Confer Early Host Protection at Initial Sites of Viral Infection. *Cell* 2017, *171*, 795-808.e12, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.052.
- Qi, J.; Crinier, A.; Escalière, B.; Ye, Y.; Wang, Z.; Zhang, T.; Batista, L.; Liu, H.; Hong, L.; Wu, N.; et al. Single-Cell Transcriptomic Landscape Reveals Tumor Specific Innate Lymphoid Cells Associated with Colorectal Cancer Progression. *Cell Rep. Med.* 2021, 2, 100353, doi:10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100353.
- 85. Vashist, N.; Trittel, S.; Ebensen, T.; Chambers, B.J.; Guzmán, C.A.; Riese, P. Influenza-Activated ILC1s Contribute to Antiviral Immunity Partially Influenced by Differential GITR Expression. *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *9*, 505, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.00505.
- Bernink, J.H.; Peters, C.P.; Munneke, M.; te Velde, A.A.; Meijer, S.L.; Weijer, K.; Hreggvidsdottir, H.S.; Heinsbroek, S.E.; Legrand, N.; Buskens, C.J.; et al. Human Type 1 Innate Lymphoid Cells Accumulate in Inflamed Mucosal Tissues. *Nat. Immunol.* 2013, 14, 221–229, doi:10.1038/ni.2534.
- Nogusa, S.; Ritz, B.W.; Kassim, S.H.; Jennings, S.R.; Gardner, E.M. Characterization of Age-Related Changes in Natural Killer Cells during Primary Influenza Infection in Mice. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 2008, *129*, 223–230, doi:10.1016/j.mad.2008.01.003.
- Li, T.; Wang, J.; Wang, Y.; Chen, Y.; Wei, H.; Sun, R.; Tian, Z. Respiratory Influenza Virus Infection Induces Memory-like Liver NK Cells in Mice. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2017, 198, 1242–1252, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502186.
- Stier, M.T.; Bloodworth, M.H.; Toki, S.; Newcomb, D.C.; Goleniewska, K.; Boyd, K.L.; Quitalig, M.; Hotard, A.L.; Moore, M.L.; Hartert, T.V.; et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection Activates IL-13-Producing Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells through Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2016, *138*, 814-824.e11, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2016.01.050.
- Kaiko, G.E.; Phipps, S.; Angkasekwinai, P.; Dong, C.; Foster, P.S. NK Cell Deficiency Predisposes to Viral-Induced Th2-Type Allergic Inflammation via Epithelial-Derived IL-25. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950* 2010, *185*, 4681–4690, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001758.
- Silverstein, N.J.; Wang, Y.; Manickas-Hill, Z.; Carbone, C.; Dauphin, A.; Boribong, B.P.; Loiselle, M.; Davis, J.; Leonard, M.M.; Kuri-Cervantes, L.; et al. Innate Lymphoid Cells and COVID-19 Severity in SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *eLife* 2022, *11*, e74681, doi:10.7554/eLife.74681.
- 92. Feng, C.G.; Kaviratne, M.; Rothfuchs, A.G.; Cheever, A.; Hieny, S.; Young, H.A.; Wynn, T.A.; Sher, A. NK Cell-Derived IFN-Gamma Differentially Regulates Innate Resistance and Neutrophil Response in T Cell-Deficient Hosts Infected with Mycobacterium Tuberculosis. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2006, 177, 7086–7093, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.7086.
- 93. Drake, L.Y.; Kita, H. Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells in the Lung. *Adv. Immunol.* 2014, *124*, 1–16, doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-800147-9.00001-7.
- 94. Kasal, D.N.; Liang, Z.; Hollinger, M.K.; O'Leary, C.Y.; Lisicka, W.; Sperling, A.I.; Bendelac, A. A Gata3 Enhancer Necessary for ILC2 Development and Function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2021**, *118*, e2106311118, doi:10.1073/pnas.2106311118.

- Miller, J.E.; Lingegowda, H.; Symons, L.K.; Bougie, O.; Young, S.L.; Lessey, B.A.; Koti, M.; Tayade, C. IL-33 Activates Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell Expansion and Modulates Endometriosis. *JCI Insight* 2021, 6, e149699, doi:10.1172/jci.insight.149699.
- Spits, H.; Artis, D.; Colonna, M.; Diefenbach, A.; Di Santo, J.P.; Eberl, G.; Koyasu, S.; Locksley, R.M.; McKenzie, A.N.J.; Mebius, R.E.; et al. Innate Lymphoid Cells--a Proposal for Uniform Nomenclature. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2013, *13*, 145–149, doi:10.1038/nri3365.
- Leyva-Castillo, J.M.; Galand, C.; Mashiko, S.; Bissonnette, R.; McGurk, A.; Ziegler, S.F.; Dong, C.; McKenzie, A.N.J.; Sarfati, M.; Geha, R.S. ILC2 Activation by Keratinocyte-Derived IL-25 Drives IL-13 Production at Sites of Allergic Skin Inflammation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2020, 145, 1606-1614.e4, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2020.02.026.
- 98. Hosseini, B.; Berthon, B.S.; Starkey, M.R.; Collison, A.; McLoughlin, R.F.; Williams, E.J.; Nichol, K.; Wark, P.A.; Jensen, M.E.; Da Silva Sena, C.R.; et al. Children With Asthma Have Impaired Innate Immunity and Increased Numbers of Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Compared With Healthy Controls. *Front. Immunol.* 2021, *12*, 664668, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.664668.
- 99. Winkler, C.; Hochdörfer, T.; Israelsson, E.; Hasselberg, A.; Cavallin, A.; Thörn, K.; Muthas, D.; Shojaee, S.; Lüer, K.; Müller, M.; et al. Activation of Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells after Allergen Challenge in Asthmatic Patients. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2019, 144, 61-69.e7, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2019.01.027.
- 100. Kim, J.; Chang, Y.; Bae, B.; Sohn, K.-H.; Cho, S.-H.; Chung, D.H.; Kang, H.R.; Kim, H.Y. Innate Immune Crosstalk in Asthmatic Airways: Innate Lymphoid Cells Coordinate Polarization of Lung Macrophages. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2019, 143, 1769-1782.e11, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2018.10.040.
- 101. Nussbaum, J.C.; Van Dyken, S.J.; von Moltke, J.; Cheng, L.E.; Mohapatra, A.; Molofsky, A.B.; Thornton, E.E.; Krummel, M.F.; Chawla, A.; Liang, H.-E.; et al. Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Control Eosinophil Homeostasis. *Nature* 2013, *502*, 245–248, doi:10.1038/nature12526.
- 102. Pociask, D.A.; Scheller, E.V.; Mandalapu, S.; McHugh, K.J.; Enelow, R.I.; Fattman, C.L.; Kolls, J.K.; Alcorn, J.F. IL-22 Is Essential for Lung Epithelial Repair Following Influenza Infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2013**, *182*, 1286–1296, doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.12.007.
- 103. Ivanov, S.; Renneson, J.; Fontaine, J.; Barthelemy, A.; Paget, C.; Fernandez, E.M.; Blanc, F.; De Trez, C.; Van Maele, L.; Dumoutier, L.; et al. Interleukin-22 Reduces Lung Inflammation during Influenza A Virus Infection and Protects against Secondary Bacterial Infection. J. Virol. 2013, 87, 6911–6924, doi:10.1128/JVI.02943-12.
- 104. Hoffmann, J.P.; Kolls, J.K.; McCombs, J.E. Regulation and Function of ILC3s in Pulmonary Infections. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 672523, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.672523.
- 105. Van Maele, L.; Carnoy, C.; Cayet, D.; Ivanov, S.; Porte, R.; Deruy, E.; Chabalgoity, J.A.; Renauld, J.-C.; Eberl, G.; Benecke, A.G.; et al. Activation of Type 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells and Interleukin 22 Secretion in the Lungs during Streptococcus Pneumoniae Infection. J. Infect. Dis. 2014, 210, 493–503, doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu106.
- 106. Steinert, E.M.; Schenkel, J.M.; Fraser, K.A.; Beura, L.K.; Manlove, L.S.; Igyártó, B.Z.; Southern, P.J.; Masopust, D. Quantifying Memory CD8 T Cells Reveals Regionalization of Immunosurveillance. *Cell* 2015, *161*, 737–749, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.03.031.
- 107. Gebhardt, T.; Wakim, L.M.; Eidsmo, L.; Reading, P.C.; Heath, W.R.; Carbone, F.R. Memory T Cells in Nonlymphoid Tissue That Provide Enhanced Local Immunity during Infection with Herpes Simplex Virus. *Nat. Immunol.* 2009, *10*, 524–530, doi:10.1038/ni.1718.

- 108. Mikhak, Z.; Strassner, J.P.; Luster, A.D. Lung Dendritic Cells Imprint T Cell Lung Homing and Promote Lung Immunity through the Chemokine Receptor CCR4. J. Exp. Med. 2013, 210, 1855–1869, doi:10.1084/jem.20130091.
- 109. Kim, T.S.; Braciale, T.J. Respiratory Dendritic Cell Subsets Differ in Their Capacity to Support the Induction of Virus-Specific Cytotoxic CD8+ T Cell Responses. *PloS One* 2009, 4, e4204, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004204.
- 110. McMaster, S.R.; Gabbard, J.D.; Koutsonanos, D.G.; Compans, R.W.; Tripp, R.A.; Tompkins, S.M.; Kohlmeier, J.E. Memory T Cells Generated by Prior Exposure to Influenza Cross React with the Novel H7N9 Influenza Virus and Confer Protective Heterosubtypic Immunity. *PloS One* 2015, *10*, e0115725, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115725.
- 111. Djenidi, F.; Adam, J.; Goubar, A.; Durgeau, A.; Meurice, G.; de Montpréville, V.; Validire, P.; Besse, B.; Mami-Chouaib, F. CD8+CD103+ Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes Are Tumor-Specific Tissue-Resident Memory T Cells and a Prognostic Factor for Survival in Lung Cancer Patients. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950* 2015, *194*, 3475–3486, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402711.
- 112. Masopust, D.; Soerens, A.G. Tissue-Resident T Cells and Other Resident Leukocytes. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2019**, *37*, 521–546, doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053214.
- 113. Skon, C.N.; Lee, J.-Y.; Anderson, K.G.; Masopust, D.; Hogquist, K.A.; Jameson, S.C. Transcriptional Downregulation of S1pr1 Is Required for the Establishment of Resident Memory CD8+ T Cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **2013**, *14*, 1285–1293, doi:10.1038/ni.2745.
- 114. Mackay, L.K.; Wynne-Jones, E.; Freestone, D.; Pellicci, D.G.; Mielke, L.A.; Newman, D.M.; Braun, A.; Masson, F.; Kallies, A.; Belz, G.T.; et al. T-Box Transcription Factors Combine with the Cytokines TGF-β and IL-15 to Control Tissue-Resident Memory T Cell Fate. *Immunity* 2015, 43, 1101–1111, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.11.008.
- 115. Reilly, E.C.; Lambert Emo, K.; Buckley, P.M.; Reilly, N.S.; Smith, I.; Chaves, F.A.; Yang, H.; Oakes, P.W.; Topham, D.J. TRM Integrins CD103 and CD49a Differentially Support Adherence and Motility after Resolution of Influenza Virus Infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2020, *117*, 12306–12314, doi:10.1073/pnas.1915681117.
- 116. Kumar, B.V.; Ma, W.; Miron, M.; Granot, T.; Guyer, R.S.; Carpenter, D.J.; Senda, T.; Sun, X.; Ho, S.-H.; Lerner, H.; et al. Human Tissue-Resident Memory T Cells Are Defined by Core Transcriptional and Functional Signatures in Lymphoid and Mucosal Sites. *Cell Rep.* 2017, 20, 2921–2934, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.08.078.
- 117. Turner, D.L.; Bickham, K.L.; Thome, J.J.; Kim, C.Y.; D'Ovidio, F.; Wherry, E.J.; Farber, D.L. Lung Niches for the Generation and Maintenance of Tissue-Resident Memory T Cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* **2014**, *7*, 501–510, doi:10.1038/mi.2013.67.
- 118. Teijaro, J.R.; Turner, D.; Pham, Q.; Wherry, E.J.; Lefrançois, L.; Farber, D.L. Cutting Edge: Tissue-Retentive Lung Memory CD4 T Cells Mediate Optimal Protection to Respiratory Virus Infection. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2011, 187, 5510–5514, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102243.
- 119. Hwang, J.Y.; Randall, T.D.; Silva-Sanchez, A. Inducible Bronchus-Associated Lymphoid Tissue: Taming Inflammation in the Lung. *Front. Immunol.* **2016**, *7*, 258, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00258.
- 120. Takamura, S.; Yagi, H.; Hakata, Y.; Motozono, C.; McMaster, S.R.; Masumoto, T.; Fujisawa, M.; Chikaishi, T.; Komeda, J.; Itoh, J.; et al. Specific Niches for Lung-Resident Memory CD8+ T Cells at the Site of Tissue Regeneration Enable CD69-Independent Maintenance. *J. Exp. Med.* **2016**, *213*, 3057–3073, doi:10.1084/jem.20160938.

- 121. Takamura, S. Persistence in Temporary Lung Niches: A Survival Strategy of Lung-Resident Memory CD8+ T Cells. *Viral Immunol.* 2017, *30*, 438–450, doi:10.1089/vim.2017.0016.
- 122. Jozwik, A.; Habibi, M.S.; Paras, A.; Zhu, J.; Guvenel, A.; Dhariwal, J.; Almond, M.; Wong, E.H.C.; Sykes, A.; Maybeno, M.; et al. RSV-Specific Airway Resident Memory CD8+ T Cells and Differential Disease Severity after Experimental Human Infection. *Nat. Commun.* 2015, 6, 10224, doi:10.1038/ncomms10224.
- 123. Pizzolla, A.; Nguyen, T.H.; Sant, S.; Jaffar, J.; Loudovaris, T.; Mannering, S.I.; Thomas, P.G.; Westall, G.P.; Kedzierska, K.; Wakim, L.M. Influenza-Specific Lung-Resident Memory T Cells Are Proliferative and Polyfunctional and Maintain Diverse TCR Profiles. J. Clin. Invest. 2018, 128, 721–733, doi:10.1172/JCI96957.
- 124. Grau-Expósito, J.; Sánchez-Gaona, N.; Massana, N.; Suppi, M.; Astorga-Gamaza, A.; Perea, D.; Rosado, J.; Falcó, A.; Kirkegaard, C.; Torrella, A.; et al. Peripheral and Lung Resident Memory T Cell Responses against SARS-CoV-2. *Nat. Commun.* 2021, *12*, 3010, doi:10.1038/s41467-021-23333-3.
- 125. Luangrath, M.A.; Schmidt, M.E.; Hartwig, S.M.; Varga, S.M. Tissue Resident Memory T Cells in the Lungs Protect Against Acute Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection. *ImmunoHorizons* **2021**, *5*, 59–69, doi:10.4049/immunohorizons.2000067.
- 126. Mateus, J.; Grifoni, A.; Tarke, A.; Sidney, J.; Ramirez, S.I.; Dan, J.M.; Burger, Z.C.; Rawlings, S.A.; Smith, D.M.; Phillips, E.; et al. Selective and Cross-Reactive SARS-CoV-2 T Cell Epitopes in Unexposed Humans. *Science* 2020, *370*, 89–94, doi:10.1126/science.abd3871.
- 127. Ge, C.; Monk, I.R.; Pizzolla, A.; Wang, N.; Bedford, J.G.; Stinear, T.P.; Westall, G.P.; Wakim, L.M. Bystander Activation of Pulmonary Trm Cells Attenuates the Severity of Bacterial Pneumonia by Enhancing Neutrophil Recruitment. *Cell Rep.* 2019, *29*, 4236-4244.e3, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.11.103.
- 128. Qian, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Li, Y.; Li, B. Legend of the Sentinels: Development of Lung Resident Memory T Cells and Their Roles in Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2020**, *11*, 624411, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.624411.
- 129. Ganesan, A.-P.; Clarke, J.; Wood, O.; Garrido-Martin, E.M.; Chee, S.J.; Mellows, T.; Samaniego-Castruita, D.; Singh, D.; Seumois, G.; Alzetani, A.; et al. Tissue-Resident Memory Features Are Linked to the Magnitude of Cytotoxic T Cell Responses in Human Lung Cancer. *Nat. Immunol.* 2017, *18*, 940–950, doi:10.1038/ni.3775.
- 130. Oja, A.E.; Piet, B.; van der Zwan, D.; Blaauwgeers, H.; Mensink, M.; de Kivit, S.; Borst, J.; Nolte, M.A.; van Lier, R.A.W.; Stark, R.; et al. Functional Heterogeneity of CD4+ Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes With a Resident Memory Phenotype in NSCLC. *Front. Immunol.* 2018, *9*, 2654, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02654.
- 131. Christian, L.S.; Wang, L.; Lim, B.; Deng, D.; Wu, H.; Wang, X.-F.; Li, Q.-J. Resident Memory T Cells in Tumor-Distant Tissues Fortify against Metastasis Formation. *Cell Rep.* 2021, 35, 109118, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109118.
- 132. Cheng, M.; Hu, S. Lung-Resident Γδ T Cells and Their Roles in Lung Diseases. *Immunology* **2017**, *151*, 375–384, doi:10.1111/imm.12764.
- 133. Vantourout, P.; Hayday, A. Six-of-the-Best: Unique Contributions of Γδ T Cells to Immunology. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2013**, *13*, 88–100, doi:10.1038/nri3384.
- 134. Augustin, A.; Kubo, R.T.; Sim, G.K. Resident Pulmonary Lymphocytes Expressing the Gamma/Delta T-Cell Receptor. *Nature* **1989**, *340*, 239–241, doi:10.1038/340239a0.
- 135. Wands, J.M.; Roark, C.L.; Aydintug, M.K.; Jin, N.; Hahn, Y.-S.; Cook, L.; Yin, X.; Dal Porto, J.; Lahn, M.; Hyde, D.M.; et al. Distribution and Leukocyte Contacts of Gammadelta T Cells in the Lung. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 2005, 78, 1086–1096, doi:10.1189/jlb.0505244.

- 136. Simonian, P.L.; Roark, C.L.; Wehrmann, F.; Lanham, A.M.; Born, W.K.; O'Brien, R.L.; Fontenot, A.P. IL-17A-Expressing T Cells Are Essential for Bacterial Clearance in a Murine Model of Hypersensitivity Pneumonitis. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2009, 182, 6540–6549, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900013.
- 137. Simonian, P.L.; Wehrmann, F.; Roark, C.L.; Born, W.K.; O'Brien, R.L.; Fontenot, A.P. Γδ T Cells Protect against Lung Fibrosis via IL-22. *J. Exp. Med.* **2010**, *207*, 2239–2253, doi:10.1084/jem.20100061.
- 138. Murdoch, J.R.; Lloyd, C.M. Resolution of Allergic Airway Inflammation and Airway Hyperreactivity Is Mediated by IL-17-Producing {gamma} {delta}T Cells. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **2010**, *182*, 464–476, doi:10.1164/rccm.200911-1775OC.
- 139. Guo, X.-Z.J.; Dash, P.; Crawford, J.C.; Allen, E.K.; Zamora, A.E.; Boyd, D.F.; Duan, S.; Bajracharya, R.; Awad, W.A.; Apiwattanakul, N.; et al. Lung Γδ T Cells Mediate Protective Responses during Neonatal Influenza Infection That Are Associated with Type 2 Immunity. *Immunity* **2018**, *49*, 531-544.e6, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.07.011.
- 140. Sant, S.; Jenkins, M.R.; Dash, P.; Watson, K.A.; Wang, Z.; Pizzolla, A.; Koutsakos, M.; Nguyen, T.H.; Lappas, M.; Crowe, J.; et al. Human Γδ T-Cell Receptor Repertoire Is Shaped by Influenza Viruses, Age and Tissue Compartmentalisation. *Clin. Transl. Immunol.* 2019, *8*, e1079, doi:10.1002/cti2.1079.
- 141. Li, H.; Xiang, Z.; Feng, T.; Li, J.; Liu, Y.; Fan, Y.; Lu, Q.; Yin, Z.; Yu, M.; Shen, C.; et al. Human Vγ9Vδ2-T Cells Efficiently Kill Influenza Virus-Infected Lung Alveolar Epithelial Cells. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* **2013**, *10*, 159–164, doi:10.1038/cmi.2012.70.
- 142. Tu, W.; Zheng, J.; Liu, Y.; Sia, S.F.; Liu, M.; Qin, G.; Ng, I.H.Y.; Xiang, Z.; Lam, K.-T.; Peiris, J.S.M.; et al. The Aminobisphosphonate Pamidronate Controls Influenza Pathogenesis by Expanding a Gammadelta T Cell Population in Humanized Mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 2011, 208, 1511–1522, doi:10.1084/jem.20110226.
- 143. Dodd, J.; Riffault, S.; Kodituwakku, J.S.; Hayday, A.C.; Openshaw, P.J.M. Pulmonary V Gamma 4+ Gamma Delta T Cells Have Proinflammatory and Antiviral Effects in Viral Lung Disease. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 2009, 182, 1174–1181, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.1174.
- 144. Wilk, A.J.; Rustagi, A.; Zhao, N.Q.; Roque, J.; Martínez-Colón, G.J.; McKechnie, J.L.; Ivison, G.T.; Ranganath, T.; Vergara, R.; Hollis, T.; et al. A Single-Cell Atlas of the Peripheral Immune Response in Patients with Severe COVID-19. *Nat. Med.* 2020, 26, 1070–1076, doi:10.1038/s41591-020-0944-y.
- 145. Odak, I.; Barros-Martins, J.; Bošnjak, B.; Stahl, K.; David, S.; Wiesner, O.; Busch, M.; Hoeper, M.M.; Pink, I.; Welte, T.; et al. Reappearance of Effector T Cells Is Associated with Recovery from COVID-19. *EBioMedicine* 2020, 57, 102885, doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102885.
- 146. Kirby, A.C.; Newton, D.J.; Carding, S.R.; Kaye, P.M. Evidence for the Involvement of Lung-Specific Gammadelta T Cell Subsets in Local Responses to Streptococcus Pneumoniae Infection. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2007, *37*, 3404–3413, doi:10.1002/eji.200737216.
- 147. Svensson, L.; Lilliehöök, B.; Larsson, R.; Bucht, A. Gammadelta T Cells Contribute to the Systemic Immunoglobulin E Response and Local B-Cell Reactivity in Allergic Eosinophilic Airway Inflammation. *Immunology* **2003**, *108*, 98–108, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01561.x.
- 148. Schramm, C.M.; Puddington, L.; Yiamouyiannis, C.A.; Lingenheld, E.G.; Whiteley, H.E.; Wolyniec, W.W.; Noonan, T.C.; Thrall, R.S. Proinflammatory Roles of T-Cell Receptor (TCR)Gammadelta and TCRalphabeta Lymphocytes in a Murine Model of Asthma. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 2000, *22*, 218–225, doi:10.1165/ajrcmb.22.2.3620.

- 149. de Oliveira Henriques, M.D.G.M.; Penido, C. Γδ T Lymphocytes Coordinate Eosinophil Influx during Allergic Responses. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2012, *3*, 200, doi:10.3389/fphar.2012.00200.
- 150. Eenjes, E.; Tibboel, D.; Wijnen, R.M.H.; Rottier, R.J.; Spearman, A.D. Lung Epithelium Development and Airway Regeneration. **2022**, 1–11, doi:10.3389/fcell.2022.1022457.
- 151. Van Itallie, C.M.; Anderson, J.M. Architecture of Tight Junctions and Principles of Molecular Composition. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2014, *36*, 157–165, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.08.011.
- 152. Zanin, M.; Baviskar, P.; Webster, R.; Webby, R. The Interaction between Respiratory Pathogens and Mucus. *Cell Host Microbe* **2016**, *19*, 159–168, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2016.01.001.
- 153. Fahy, J. V; Dickey, B.F. Airway Mucus Function and Dysfunction. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2010**, *363*, 2233–2247, doi:10.1056/NEJMra0910061.
- 154. LeMessurier, K.S.; Tiwary, M.; Morin, N.P.; Samarasinghe, A.E. Respiratory Barrier as a Safeguard and Regulator of Defense Against Influenza A Virus and Streptococcus Pneumoniae. *Front. Immunol.* **2020**, *11*, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00003.
- 155. Talbot, U.M.; Paton, A.W.; Paton, J.C. Uptake of Streptococcus Pneumoniae by Respiratory Epithelial Cells. *Infect. Immun.* **1996**, *64*, 3772–3777, doi:10.1128/iai.64.9.3772-3777.1996.
- 156. Hogg, J.C. Bronchial Mucosal Permeability and Its Relationship to Airways Hyperreactivity. *Eur. J. Respir. Dis. Suppl.* **1982**, *122*, 17–22.
- 157. Milara, J.; Peiró, T.; Serrano, A.; Cortijo, J. Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition Is Increased in Patients with COPD and Induced by Cigarette Smoke. *Thorax* **2013**, *68*, 410–420, doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2012-201761.
- 158. Schamberger, A.C.; Mise, N.; Jia, J.; Genoyer, E.; Yildirim, A.Ö.; Meiners, S.;
 Eickelberg, O. Cigarette Smoke-Induced Disruption of Bronchial Epithelial Tight
 Junctions Is Prevented by Transforming Growth Factor-β. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*2014, 50, 1040–1052, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2013-00900C.
- 159. Shaykhiev, R.; Otaki, F.; Bonsu, P.; Dang, D.T.; Teater, M.; Strulovici-Barel, Y.; Salit, J.; Harvey, B.-G.; Crystal, R.G. Cigarette Smoking Reprograms Apical Junctional Complex Molecular Architecture in the Human Airway Epithelium in Vivo. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 2011, 68, 877–892, doi:10.1007/s00018-010-0500-x.
- 160. Carlier, F.; Pilette, C. The Memory of Airway Epithelium Damage in Smokers and COPD Patients. *ERJ Open Res.* **2022**, *8*, doi:10.1183/23120541.LSC-2022.113.
- 161. Aghapour, M.; Raee, P.; Moghaddam, S.J.; Hiemstra, P.S.; Heijink, I.H. Airway Epithelial Barrier Dysfunction in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Role of Cigarette Smoke Exposure. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 2018, 58, 157–169, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2017-0200TR.
- 162. Barnes, P.J. Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Clin. Chest Med.* **2014**, *35*, 71–86, doi:10.1016/j.ccm.2013.10.004.
- 163. Xiao, C.; Puddicombe, S.M.; Field, S.; Haywood, J.; Broughton-Head, V.; Puxeddu, I.; Haitchi, H.M.; Vernon-Wilson, E.; Sammut, D.; Bedke, N.; et al. Defective Epithelial Barrier Function in Asthma. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2011, *128*, 549-556.e1-12, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.05.038.
- 164. de Boer, W.I.; Sharma, H.S.; Baelemans, S.M.I.; Hoogsteden, H.C.; Lambrecht, B.N.; Braunstahl, G.J. Altered Expression of Epithelial Junctional Proteins in Atopic Asthma: Possible Role in Inflammation. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 2008, *86*, 105–112, doi:10.1139/Y08-004.
- 165. Short, K.R.; Kasper, J.; Aa, S. van der; Andeweg, A.C.; Zaaraoui-Boutahar, F.; Goeijenbier, M.; Richard, M.; Herold, S.; Becker, C.; Scott, D.P.; et al. Influenza Virus

Damages the Alveolar Barrier by Disrupting Epithelial Cell Tight Junctions. *Eur. Respir. J.* **2016**, *47*, 954–966, doi:10.1183/13993003.01282-2015.

- 166. Wan, H.; Winton, H.L.; Soeller, C.; Tovey, E.R.; Gruenert, D.C.; Thompson, P.J.; Stewart, G.A.; Taylor, G.W.; Garrod, D.R.; Cannell, M.B.; et al. Der p 1 Facilitates Transepithelial Allergen Delivery by Disruption of Tight Junctions. *J. Clin. Invest.* 1999, 104, 123–133, doi:10.1172/JCI5844.
- 167. Olivera, D.S.; Boggs, S.E.; Beenhouwer, C.; Aden, J.; Knall, C. Cellular Mechanisms of Mainstream Cigarette Smoke-Induced Lung Epithelial Tight Junction Permeability Changes In Vitro. *Inhal. Toxicol.* 2007, *19*, 13–22, doi:10.1080/08958370600985768.
- 168. Post, S.; Nawijn, M.C.; Hackett, T.L.; Baranowska, M.; Gras, R.; Oosterhout, A.J.M. van; Heijink, I.H. The Composition of House Dust Mite Is Critical for Mucosal Barrier Dysfunction and Allergic Sensitisation. *Thorax* 2012, *67*, 488–495, doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-200606.
- 169. Vinhas, R.; Cortes, L.; Cardoso, I.; Mendes, V.M.; Manadas, B.; Todo-Bom, A.; Pires, E.; Veríssimo, P. Pollen Proteases Compromise the Airway Epithelial Barrier through Degradation of Transmembrane Adhesion Proteins and Lung Bioactive Peptides. *Allergy* 2011, 66, 1088–1098, doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02598.x.
- 170. Gunawan, H.; Takai, T.; Ikeda, S.; Okumura, K.; Ogawa, H. Protease Activity of Allergenic Pollen of Cedar, Cypress, Juniper, Birch and Ragweed. *Allergol. Int.* 2008, 57, 83–91, doi:10.2332/allergolint.O-07-507.
- 171. Takai, T.; Ikeda, S. Barrier Dysfunction Caused by Environmental Proteases in the Pathogenesis of Allergic Diseases. *Allergol. Int.* **2011**, *60*, 25–35, doi:10.2332/allergolint.10-RAI-0273.
- 172. Post, S.; Heijink, I.H.; Hesse, L.; Koo, H.K.; Shaheen, F.; Fouadi, M.; Kuchibhotla, V.N.S.; Lambrecht, B.N.; Van Oosterhout, A.J.M.; Hackett, T.L.; et al. Characterization of a Lung Epithelium Specific E-Cadherin Knock-out Model: Implications for Obstructive Lung Pathology. *Sci. Rep.* 2018, *8*, 13275, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-31500-8.
- 173. Krouse, M.E. Is Cystic Fibrosis Lung Disease Caused by Abnormal Ion Composition or Abnormal Volume? *J. Gen. Physiol.* **2001**, *118*, 219–222, doi:10.1085/jgp.118.2.219.
- 174. Molina, S.A.; Stauffer, B.; Moriarty, H.K.; Kim, A.H.; McCarty, N.A.; Koval, M. Junctional Abnormalities in Human Airway Epithelial Cells Expressing F508del CFTR. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 2015, 309, L475-487, doi:10.1152/ajplung.00060.2015.
- 175. Chanson, M.; Berclaz, P.-Y.; Scerri, I.; Dudez, T.; Wernke-Dollries, K.; Pizurki, L.; Pavirani, A.; Fiedler, M.A.; Suter, S. Regulation of Gap Junctional Communication by a Pro-Inflammatory Cytokine in Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator-Expressing but Not Cystic Fibrosis Airway Cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* 2001, *158*, 1775–1784, doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64133-8.
- 176. Kulkarni, T.; de Andrade, J.; Zhou, Y.; Luckhardt, T.; Thannickal, V.J. Alveolar Epithelial Disintegrity in Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 2016, 311, L185-191, doi:10.1152/ajplung.00115.2016.
- 177. Mogulkoc, N.; Brutsche, M.H.; Bishop, P.W.; Murby, B.; Greaves, M.S.; Horrocks, A.W.; Wilson, M.; McCullough, C.; Prescott, M.; Egan, J.J. Pulmonary 99mTc-DTPA Aerosol Clearance and Survival in Usual Interstitial Pneumonia (UIP). *Thorax* 2001, *56*, 916–923, doi:10.1136/thorax.56.12.916.
- 178. Zou, J.; Li, Y.; Yu, J.; Dong, L.; Husain, A.N.; Shen, L.; Weber, C.R. Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis Is Associated with Tight Junction Protein Alterations. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Biomembr.* 2020, 1862, 183205, doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2020.183205.

- 179. Golebiewski, L.; Liu, H.; Javier, R.T.; Rice, A.P. The Avian Influenza Virus NS1 ESEV PDZ Binding Motif Associates with Dlg1 and Scribble To Disrupt Cellular Tight Junctions. J. Virol. 2011, 85, 10639–10648, doi:10.1128/jvi.05070-11.
- 180. Wolter, N.; Cohen, C.; Tempia, S.; Madhi, S.A.; Venter, M.; Moyes, J.; Walaza, S.; Malope Kgokong, B.; Groome, M.; du Plessis, M.; et al. HIV and Influenza Virus Infections Are Associated With Increased Blood Pneumococcal Load: A Prospective, Hospital-Based Observational Study in South Africa, 2009–2011. J. Infect. Dis. 2014, 209, 56–65, doi:10.1093/infdis/jit427.
- 181. Damjanovic, D.; Lai, R.; Jeyanathan, M.; Hogaboam, C.M.; Xing, Z. Marked Improvement of Severe Lung Immunopathology by Influenza-Associated Pneumococcal Superinfection Requires the Control of Both Bacterial Replication and Host Immune Responses. Am. J. Pathol. 2013, 183, 868–880, doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.05.016.
- 182. Fliegauf, M.; Sonnen, A.F.-P.; Kremer, B.; Henneke, P. Mucociliary Clearance Defects in a Murine In Vitro Model of Pneumococcal Airway Infection. *PLOS ONE* 2013, 8, e59925, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059925.
- 183. Rayner, C.F.; Jackson, A.D.; Rutman, A.; Dewar, A.; Mitchell, T.J.; Andrew, P.W.; Cole, P.J.; Wilson, R. Interaction of Pneumolysin-Sufficient and -Deficient Isogenic Variants of Streptococcus Pneumoniae with Human Respiratory Mucosa. *Infect. Immun.* 1995, 63, 442–447, doi:10.1128/iai.63.2.442-447.1995.
- 184. Yung, J.A.; Fuseini, H.; Newcomb, D.C. Hormones, Sex, and Asthma. *Ann. Allergy. Asthma. Immunol.* **2018**, *120*, 488–494, doi:10.1016/j.anai.2018.01.016.
- 185. An, S.S.; Bai, T.R.; Bates, J.H.T.; Black, J.L.; Brown, R.H.; Brusasco, V.; Chitano, P.; Deng, L.; Dowell, M.; Eidelman, D.H.; et al. Airway Smooth Muscle Dynamics: A Common Pathway of Airway Obstruction in Asthma. *Eur. Respir. J.* 2007, *29*, 834–860, doi:10.1183/09031936.00112606.
- 186. Lung Inflammation in Health and Disease, Volume II; Wang, Y.-X., Ed.; Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2021; Vol. 1304; ISBN 978-3-030-68747-2.
- 187. Riffo-Vasquez, Y.; Ligeiro de Oliveira, A.P.; Page, C.P.; Spina, D.; Tavares-de-Lima, W. Role of Sex Hormones in Allergic Inflammation in Mice. *Clin. Exp. Allergy J. Br. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2007, *37*, 459–470, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007.02670.x.
- 188. Marques-Mejías, M.; Barranco, P.; Laorden, D.; Romero, D.; Quirce, S. Worsening of Severe Asthma Due to Menstruation and Sensitization to Albumins. J. Investig. Allergol. Clin. Immunol. 2018, 28, 330–332, doi:10.18176/jiaci.0273.
- 189. Atlantis, E.; Fahey, P.; Cochrane, B.; Wittert, G.; Smith, S. Endogenous Testosterone Level and Testosterone Supplementation Therapy in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD): A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *BMJ Open* 2013, 3, e003127, doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003127.
- 190. Baillargeon, J.; Urban, R.J.; Zhang, W.; Zaiden, M.F.; Javed, Z.; Sheffield-Moore, M.; Kuo, Y.-F.; Sharma, G. Testosterone Replacement Therapy and Hospitalization Rates in Men with COPD. *Chron. Respir. Dis.* **2019**, *16*, 1479972318793004, doi:10.1177/1479972318793004.
- 191. Becerra-Díaz, M.; Strickland, A.B.; Keselman, A.; Heller, N.M. Androgen and Androgen Receptor as Enhancers of M2 Macrophage Polarization in Allergic Lung Inflammation. *J. Immunol.* **2018**, *201*, 2923–2933, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1800352.
- 192. Barr, R.G.; Camargo, C.A. Hormone Replacement Therapy and Obstructive Airway Diseases. *Treat. Respir. Med.* **2004**, *3*, 1–7, doi:10.2165/00151829-200403010-00001.
- 193. Voltz, J.W.; Card, J.W.; Carey, M.A.; Degraff, L.M.; Ferguson, C.D.; Flake, G.P.; Bonner, J.C.; Korach, K.S.; Zeldin, D.C. Male Sex Hormones Exacerbate Lung Function Impairment after Bleomycin-Induced Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 2008, 39, 45–52, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2007-03400C.

- 194. Gharaee-Kermani, M.; Hatano, K.; Nozaki, Y.; Phan, S.H. Gender-Based Differences in Bleomycin-Induced Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2005**, *166*, 1593–1606, doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62470-4.
- 195. Tofovic, S.P.; Zhang, X.; Jackson, E.K.; Zhu, H.; Petrusevska, G. 2-Methoxyestradiol Attenuates Bleomycin-Induced Pulmonary Hypertension and Fibrosis in Estrogen-Deficient Rats. *Vascul. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *51*, 190–197, doi:10.1016/j.vph.2009.06.002.
- 196. Elliot, S.; Periera-Simon, S.; Xia, X.; Catanuto, P.; Rubio, G.; Shahzeidi, S.; El Salem, F.; Shapiro, J.; Briegel, K.; Korach, K.S.; et al. MicroRNA Let-7 Downregulates Ligand-Independent Estrogen Receptor-Mediated Male-Predominant Pulmonary Fibrosis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 2019, 200, 1246–1257, doi:10.1164/rccm.201903-0508OC.
- 197. Weinberg, O.K.; Marquez-Garban, D.C.; Fishbein, M.C.; Goodglick, L.; Garban, H.J.; Dubinett, S.M.; Pietras, R.J. Aromatase Inhibitors in Human Lung Cancer Therapy. *Cancer Res.* **2005**, *65*, 11287–11291, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2737.
- 198. Hershberger, P.A.; Stabile, L.P.; Kanterewicz, B.; Rothstein, M.E.; Gubish, C.T.; Land, S.; Shuai, Y.; Siegfried, J.M.; Nichols, M. Estrogen Receptor Beta (ERbeta) Subtype-Specific Ligands Increase Transcription, P44/P42 Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) Activation and Growth in Human Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cells. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 2009, 116, 102–109, doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2009.05.004.
- 199. Stabile, L.P.; Dacic, S.; Land, S.R.; Lenzner, D.E.; Dhir, R.; Acquafondata, M.; Landreneau, R.J.; Grandis, J.R.; Siegfried, J.M. Combined Analysis of Estrogen Receptor Beta-1 and Progesterone Receptor Expression Identifies Lung Cancer Patients with Poor Outcome. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* 2011, 17, 154– 164, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0992.
- 200. Hyde, Z.; Flicker, L.; McCaul, K.A.; Almeida, O.P.; Hankey, G.J.; Chubb, S.A.P.; Yeap, B.B. Associations between Testosterone Levels and Incident Prostate, Lung, and Colorectal Cancer. A Population-Based Study. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prev. Publ. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. Cosponsored Am. Soc. Prev. Oncol.* 2012, *21*, 1319–1329, doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-12-0129.
- 201. Harlos, C.; Musto, G.; Lambert, P.; Ahmed, R.; Pitz, M.W. Androgen Pathway Manipulation and Survival in Patients with Lung Cancer. *Horm. Cancer* **2015**, *6*, 120– 127, doi:10.1007/s12672-015-0218-1.
- 202. Maasberg, M.; Rotsch, M.; Jaques, G.; Enderle-Schmidt, U.; Weehle, R.; Havemann, K. Androgen Receptors, Androgen-Dependent Proliferation, and 5 Alpha-Reductase Activity of Small-Cell Lung Cancer Cell Lines. *Int. J. Cancer* 1989, 43, 685–691, doi:10.1002/ijc.2910430424.
- 203. Richardson, S.; Hirsch, J.S.; Narasimhan, M.; Crawford, J.M.; McGinn, T.; Davidson, K.W.; the Northwell COVID-19 Research Consortium; Barnaby, D.P.; Becker, L.B.; Chelico, J.D.; et al. Presenting Characteristics, Comorbidities, and Outcomes Among 5700 Patients Hospitalized With COVID-19 in the New York City Area. *JAMA* 2020, 323, 2052–2059, doi:10.1001/jama.2020.6775.
- 204. Maggio, M.; Basaria, S.; Ceda, G.P.; Ble, A.; Ling, S.M.; Bandinelli, S.; Valenti, G.; Ferrucci, L. The Relationship between Testosterone and Molecular Markers of Inflammation in Older Men. *J. Endocrinol. Invest.* **2005**, *28*, 116–119.
- 205. Rastrelli, G.; Di Stasi, V.; Inglese, F.; Beccaria, M.; Garuti, M.; Di Costanzo, D.; Spreafico, F.; Greco, G.F.; Cervi, G.; Pecoriello, A.; et al. Low Testosterone Levels Predict Clinical Adverse Outcomes in SARS-CoV-2 Pneumonia Patients. *Andrology* 2021, 9, 88–98, doi:10.1111/andr.12821.
- 206. Pozzilli, P.; Lenzi, A. Commentary: Testosterone, a Key Hormone in the Context of COVID-19 Pandemic. *Metabolism*. **2020**, *108*, 154252, doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154252.

- 207. Channappanavar, R.; Fett, C.; Mack, M.; Ten Eyck, P.P.; Meyerholz, D.K.; Perlman, S. Sex-Based Differences in Susceptibility to Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Infection. *J. Immunol.* 2017, *198*, 4046–4053, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601896.
- 208. Grandi, G.; Facchinetti, F.; Bitzer, J. The Gendered Impact of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19): Do Estrogens Play a Role? *Eur. J. Contracept. Reprod. Health Care Off. J. Eur. Soc. Contracept.* **2020**, *25*, 233–234, doi:10.1080/13625187.2020.1766017.
- 209. Anderson, K.G.; Mayer-Barber, K.; Sung, H.; Beura, L.; James, B.R.; Taylor, J.J.; Qunaj, L.; Griffith, T.S.; Vezys, V.; Barber, D.L.; et al. Intravascular Staining for Discrimination of Vascular and Tissue Leukocytes. *Nat. Protoc.* 2014, *9*, 209–222, doi:10.1038/nprot.2014.005.
- 210. Christofides, A.; Cao, C.; Pal, R.; Aksoylar, H.I.; Boussiotis, V.A. Flow Cytometric Analysis for Identification of the Innate and Adaptive Immune Cells of Murine Lung. *J. Vis. Exp. JoVE* **2021**, doi:10.3791/62985.
- 211. Yu, Y.-R.A.; Hotten, D.F.; Malakhau, Y.; Volker, E.; Ghio, A.J.; Noble, P.W.; Kraft, M.; Hollingsworth, J.W.; Gunn, M.D.; Tighe, R.M. Flow Cytometric Analysis of Myeloid Cells in Human Blood, Bronchoalveolar Lavage, and Lung Tissues. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **2016**, *54*, 13–24, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2015-0146OC.
- 212. Shenoy, A.T.; Lyon De Ana, C.; Barker, K.A.; Arafa, E.I.; Martin, I.M.C.; Mizgerd, J.P.; Belkina, A.C. CPHEN-011: Comprehensive Phenotyping of Murine Lung Resident Lymphocytes after Recovery from Pneumococcal Pneumonia. *Cytometry A* 2022, 101, 892–902, doi:10.1002/cyto.a.24522.
- 213. Dimitra Zazara The Impact of Prenatal Stress on Fetal Lung Development and Its Association with Asthma Mice, University of Hamburg: Hamburg, 2020.
- 214. Zazara, D.E.; Belios, I.; Lücke, J.; Zhang, T.; Giannou, A.D. Tissue-Resident Immunity in the Lung: A First-Line Defense at the Environmental Interface. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 2022, 44, 827–854, doi:10.1007/s00281-022-00964-2.
- 215. Somayaji, R.; Chalmers, J.D. Just Breathe: A Review of Sex and Gender in Chronic Lung Disease. *Eur. Respir. Rev.* **2022**, *31*, 210111, doi:10.1183/16000617.0111-2021.
- 216. Townsend, E.A.; Miller, V.M.; Prakash, Y.S. Sex Differences and Sex Steroids in Lung Health and Disease. *Endocr. Rev.* **2012**, *33*, 1–47, doi:10.1210/er.2010-0031.
- 217. Kadel, S.; Kovats, S. Sex Hormones Regulate Innate Immune Cells and Promote Sex Differences in Respiratory Virus Infection. *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *9*.
- 218. Márquez-Garbán, D.C.; Chen, H.-W.; Fishbein, M.C.; Goodglick, L.; Pietras, R.J. Estrogen Receptor Signaling Pathways in Human Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Steroids* 2007, 72, 135–143, doi:10.1016/j.steroids.2006.11.019.
- 219. Mikkonen, L.; Pihlajamaa, P.; Sahu, B.; Zhang, F.-P.; Jänne, O.A. Androgen Receptor and Androgen-Dependent Gene Expression in Lung. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 2010, 317, 14–24, doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.12.022.
- 220. Abdullah, M.; Chai, P.-S.; Chong, M.-Y.; Tohit, E.R.M.; Ramasamy, R.; Pei, C.P.; Vidyadaran, S. Gender Effect on in Vitro Lymphocyte Subset Levels of Healthy Individuals. *Cell. Immunol.* **2012**, *272*, 214–219, doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2011.10.009.
- 221. Xia, H.-J.; Zhang, G.-H.; Wang, R.-R.; Zheng, Y.-T. The Influence of Age and Sex on the Cell Counts of Peripheral Blood Leukocyte Subpopulations in Chinese Rhesus Macaques. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* **2009**, *6*, 433–440, doi:10.1038/cmi.2009.55.
- 222. Boissier, J.; Chlichlia, K.; Digon, Y.; Ruppel, A.; Moné, H. Preliminary Study on Sex-Related Inflammatory Reactions in Mice Infected with Schistosoma Mansoni. *Parasitol. Res.* 2003, *91*, 144–150, doi:10.1007/s00436-003-0943-1.
- 223. Amadori, A.; Zamarchi, R.; De Silvestro, G.; Forza, G.; Cavatton, G.; Danieli, G.A.; Clementi, M.; Chieco-Bianchi, L. Genetic Control of the CD4/CD8 T-Cell Ratio in Humans. *Nat. Med.* **1995**, *1*, 1279–1283, doi:10.1038/nm1295-1279.

- 224. Lee, B.-W.; Yap, H.-K.; Chew, F.-T.; Quah, T.-C.; Prabhakaran, K.; Chan, G.S.H.; Wong, S.-C.; Seah, C.-C. Age- and Sex-Related Changes in Lymphocyte Subpopulations of Healthy Asian Subjects: From Birth to Adulthood. *Cytometry* 1996, 26, 8–15, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0320(19960315)26:1<8::AID-CYTO2>3.0.CO;2-E.
- 225. Doeing, D.C.; Borowicz, J.L.; Crockett, E.T. Gender Dimorphism in Differential Peripheral Blood Leukocyte Counts in Mice Using Cardiac, Tail, Foot, and Saphenous Vein Puncture Methods. *BMC Clin. Pathol.* **2003**, *3*, 3, doi:10.1186/1472-6890-3-3.
- 226. Jacobsen, H.; Klein, S.L. Sex Differences in Immunity to Viral Infections. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 720952, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.720952.
- 227. Scotland, R.S.; Stables, M.J.; Madalli, S.; Watson, P.; Gilroy, D.W. Sex Differences in Resident Immune Cell Phenotype Underlie More Efficient Acute Inflammatory Responses in Female Mice. *Blood* 2011, *118*, 5918–5927, doi:10.1182/blood-2011-03-340281.
- 228. Corcoran, M.P.; Meydani, M.; Lichtenstein, A.H.; Schaefer, E.J.; Dillard, A.; Lamon-Fava, S. Sex Hormone Modulation of Proinflammatory Cytokine and C-Reactive Protein Expression in Macrophages from Older Men and Postmenopausal Women. J. Endocrinol. 2010, 206, 217–224, doi:10.1677/JOE-10-0057.
- 229. Rettew, J.A.; Huet-Hudson, Y.M.; Marriott, I. Testosterone Reduces Macrophage Expression in the Mouse of Toll-like Receptor 4, a Trigger for Inflammation and Innate Immunity. *Biol. Reprod.* **2008**, *78*, 432–437, doi:10.1095/biolreprod.107.063545.
- 230. D'Agostino, P.; Milano, S.; Barbera, C.; Di Bella, G.; La Rosa, M.; Ferlazzo, V.; Farruggio, R.; Miceli, D.M.; Miele, M.; Castagnetta, L.; et al. Sex Hormones Modulate Inflammatory Mediators Produced by Macrophages. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1999**, 876, 426–429, doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb07667.x.
- 231. Malkin, C.J.; Pugh, P.J.; Jones, R.D.; Kapoor, D.; Channer, K.S.; Jones, T.H. The Effect of Testosterone Replacement on Endogenous Inflammatory Cytokines and Lipid Profiles in Hypogonadal Men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2004, 89, 3313–3318, doi:10.1210/jc.2003-031069.
- 232. Hepworth, M.R.; Hardman, M.J.; Grencis, R.K. The Role of Sex Hormones in the Development of Th2 Immunity in a Gender-Biased Model of Trichuris Muris Infection. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2010, 40, 406–416, doi:10.1002/eji.200939589.
- 233. Chuang, K.-H.; Altuwaijri, S.; Li, G.; Lai, J.-J.; Chu, C.-Y.; Lai, K.-P.; Lin, H.-Y.; Hsu, J.-W.; Keng, P.; Wu, M.-C.; et al. Neutropenia with Impaired Host Defense against Microbial Infection in Mice Lacking Androgen Receptor. J. Exp. Med. 2009, 206, 1181–1199, doi:10.1084/jem.20082521.
- 234. Viselli, S.M.; Reese, K.R.; Fan, J.; Kovacs, W.J.; Olsen, N.J. Androgens Alter B Cell Development in Normal Male Mice. *Cell. Immunol.* 1997, 182, 99–104, doi:10.1006/cimm.1997.1227.
- 235. Fitzpatrick, F.; Lepault, F.; Homo-Delarche, F.; Bach, J.F.; Dardenne, M. Influence of Castration, Alone or Combined with Thymectomy, on the Development of Diabetes in the Nonobese Diabetic Mouse. *Endocrinology* 1991, *129*, 1382–1390, doi:10.1210/endo-129-3-1382.
- 236. Page, S.T.; Plymate, S.R.; Bremner, W.J.; Matsumoto, A.M.; Hess, D.L.; Lin, D.W.; Amory, J.K.; Nelson, P.S.; Wu, J.D. Effect of Medical Castration on CD4+ CD25+ T Cells, CD8+ T Cell IFN-Gamma Expression, and NK Cells: A Physiological Role for Testosterone and/or Its Metabolites. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2006, 290, E856-863, doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00484.2005.
- 237. Bobjer, J.; Katrinaki, M.; Tsatsanis, C.; Lundberg Giwercman, Y.; Giwercman, A. Negative Association between Testosterone Concentration and Inflammatory Markers in Young Men: A Nested Cross-Sectional Study. *PloS One* 2013, *8*, e61466, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061466.

- 238. Roden, A.C.; Moser, M.T.; Tri, S.D.; Mercader, M.; Kuntz, S.M.; Dong, H.; Hurwitz, A.A.; McKean, D.J.; Celis, E.; Leibovich, B.C.; et al. Augmentation of T Cell Levels and Responses Induced by Androgen Deprivation. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 2004, 173, 6098–6108, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.10.6098.
- 239. Sathish, V.; Martin, Y.N.; Prakash, Y.S. Sex Steroid Signaling: Implications for Lung Diseases. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **2015**, *150*, 94–108, doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.01.007.
- 240. Jilma, B.; Eichler, H.G.; Breiteneder, H.; Wolzt, M.; Aringer, M.; Graninger, W.; Röhrer, C.; Veitl, M.; Wagner, O.F. Effects of 17 Beta-Estradiol on Circulating Adhesion Molecules. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 1994, 79, 1619–1624, doi:10.1210/jcem.79.6.7527406.
- 241. Robinson, D.P.; Hall, O.J.; Nilles, T.L.; Bream, J.H.; Klein, S.L. 17β-Estradiol Protects Females against Influenza by Recruiting Neutrophils and Increasing Virus-Specific CD8 T Cell Responses in the Lungs. J. Virol. 2014, 88, 4711–4720, doi:10.1128/JVI.02081-13.
- 242. Klein, S.L.; Flanagan, K.L. Sex Differences in Immune Responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2016**, *16*, 626–638, doi:10.1038/nri.2016.90.
- 243. Ben-Hur, H.; Mor, G.; Insler, V.; Blickstein, I.; Amir-Zaltsman, Y.; Sharp, A.; Globerson, A.; Kohen, F. Menopause Is Associated With a Significant Increase in Blood Monocyte Number and a Relative Decrease in the Expression of Estrogen Receptors in Human Peripheral Monocytes. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* **1995**, *34*, 363–369, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.1995.tb00965.x.
- 244. Galligan, C.L.; Fish, E.N. Sex Differences in the Immune Response. In Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases; Klein, S.L., Roberts, C.W., Eds.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2015; pp. 1–29 ISBN 978-3-319-16438-0.
- 245. Arruvito, L.; Giulianelli, S.; Flores, A.C.; Paladino, N.; Barboza, M.; Lanari, C.; Fainboim, L. NK Cells Expressing a Progesterone Receptor Are Susceptible to Progesterone-Induced Apoptosis. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 2008, 180, 5746–5753, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.8.5746.
- 246. Erlandsson, M.C.; Jonsson, C.A.; Islander, U.; Ohlsson, C.; Carlsten, H. Oestrogen Receptor Specificity in Oestradiol-Mediated Effects on B Lymphopoiesis and Immunoglobulin Production in Male Mice. *Immunology* 2003, *108*, 346–351, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01599.x.
- 247. Leposavić, G.; Obradović, S.; Kosec, D.; Pejčić-Karapetrović, B.; Vidić-Danković, B. In Vivo Modulation of the Distribution of Thymocyte Subsets by Female Sex Steroid Hormones. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2001**, *1*, 1–12, doi:10.1016/S1567-5769(00)00006-0.
- 248. Shames, R.S. Gender Differences in the Development and Function of the Immune System. J. Adolesc. Health 2002, 30, 59–70, doi:10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00382-2.
- 249. Fish, E.N. The X-Files in Immunity: Sex-Based Differences Predispose Immune Responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2008**, *8*, 737–744, doi:10.1038/nri2394.
- 250. Faisal, M.; Kim, H.; Kim, J. Sexual Differences of Imprinted Genes' Expression Levels. *Gene* 2014, *533*, 434–438, doi:10.1016/j.gene.2013.10.006.
- 251. Koçar, I.H.; Yesilova, Z.; Özata, M.; Turan, M.; Sengül, A.; Özdemir, I.Ç. The Effect of Testosterone Replacement Treatment on Immunological Features of Patients with Klinefelter's Syndrome. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 2000, *121*, 448–452, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2000.01329.x.
- 252. Ye, L.; Martin, T.A.; Parr, C.; Harrison, G.M.; Mansel, R.E.; Jiang, W.G. Biphasic Effects of 17-?-Estradiol on Expression of Occludin and Transendothelial Resistance and Paracellular Permeability in Human Vascular Endothelial Cells. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 2003, 196, 362–369, doi:10.1002/jcp.10315.

8. Acknowledgement

Firstly, I want to express how grateful I am for my Professor and Dr. Mutter Professor Dr. Petra Arck, who trusted me, believed in me and gave me the opportunity to work with her amazing team. Her ideas, advice and constant support made possible to me to produce trustable research data and understand and appreciate all the aspects of academic life. I will never forget her support and kindness. I owe also a huge thanks to my supervisor and friend Dr. Dimitra Zazara, who also believed in me and patiently taught me all the different scientific methods and techniques, from the simplest things like how we handle mice until complex cell techniques and analysis. Without her I would never be able to gap the bridge between clinical life and basic research, and become able to work individually and effectively in a research lab. Here I also have to thank my other two friends and collaborators Dr. Anastasios Giannou and Dr. med. Tao Zhang, who also helped me and taught me many things in the first steps of my every day lab life in Hamburg.

I also feel very lucky that I worked in a team with such kind, friendly and trustable colleagues. I am thankful for all the support not only in the actual work, but also for all the fun and conversations we had together. The way that in a very short period of time made me feel an important part of the team was amazing. Thank you, Agnes, Christopher, Isabell, Nadine, Kristin, Dennis, Steven, Tomas, Niels, Alessia, Josina, Pauline, Susanne, Antonia,Kinga!!! I have also to thank, my first mentor, Professor Sotiris Zarogiannis, who introduced me to research and taught me all the basics about it, that for an undergraduate student in the 2nd year of medical school were not so easy. Without his help and support, I could never come to Hamburg and find a position in such a high-quality working environment.

Last but not least, I owe a huge "thank you" to my family and friends. I would never achieve anything in my life without them, being constantly there for me.

9. Curriculum Vitae

General information

- Date of Birth: 02.04.1997
- City of Birth: Maroussi Attika's
- Nationality: Greek

University Studies

Faculty of Medicine, School of Health Sciences, University of Thessaly Entry September 2015 – Graduation July 2021 Grade: 7,93 / 10

<u>Career</u>

- August 2020- July 2021. Practical year of medical studies in University Hospital of Larissa, University of Thessaly, Greece
- October 2021. Medical approbation, from the Panhellenic Medical Association
- January 2022-Present. Scientific Collaborator in Laboratory for experimental fetomaternal medicine, University Medical Center Eppendorf-Hamburg (UKE)

Research activity

Published Papers

- D.E. Zazara, I. Belios, J. Lücke, Zhang T, A.D. Giannou. Tissue-resident immunity in the lung: a first-line defense at the environmental interface. Semin Immunopathol. 2022.
- Zhang T*, Wahib R*, Zazara DE, Lücke J, Shiri MA, Kempski J, Zhao L, Agalioti T, Machicote AP, Giannou O, **Belios I**, Jia R, Tintelnot J, Seese H, Grass JK, Mercanoglu B, Stern L, Scognamiglio P, Fard-Aghaie M, Seeger P, Wakker J, Kemper M, Brunswig B, Duprée A, Lykoudis PM, Pikouli A, Giorgakis E, Stringa P, Lausada N, Gentilini MV, Gondolesi GE, Bachmann K, Busch P, Grotelüschen R, Maroulis IC, Arck PC, Nakano R, Thomson AW, Ghadban T, Tachezy M, Melling N, Achilles E, Nickel F, Hackert T, Mann O, Izbicki JR, Li J, Gagliani N, Huber S#, Giannou AD#. CD4+ T cell-derived IL-22 enhances liver metastasis by promoting angiogenesis. Oncoimmunology 2023.
- Giannou AD, Kempski J, Zhang T, Lücke J, Shiri AM, Zazara DE, Belios I, Machicote A, Seeger P, Agalioti T, Tintelnot J, Sagebiel A, Tomczak M, Bauditz L, Bedke T, Kocheise L, Mercanoglu B, Fard-Aghaie M, Giorgakis E, Lykoudis PM, Pikouli A, Grass JK, Wahib R, Bardenhagen J, Brunswig B, Heumann A, Ghadban T, Duprée A, Tachezy M, Melling N, Arck PC, Stringa P, Gentilini MV, Gondolesi GE, Nakano R, Thomson AW, Perez D, Li J, Mann O, Izbicki JR, Gagliani N, Maroulis IC, Huber S.
 IL-22BP controls the progression of liver metastasis in colorectal cancer. Front Oncol. 2023
- P. Tasoudis, C. Arvaniti, A. Adamou, I. Belios, J. Stone, N. Horick, D. Sagris, G. Dalekos, G. Ntaios Interleukin-6 inhibitors reduce mortality in COVID-19: An individual patient data meta-analysis from randomized controlled trials. European Journal of Internal Medicine 2022
- A. Adamou, S. Giannopoulos, C. Arvaniti, **I. Belios**, D. Dalampira, G. Eleftheriadis, T. Zinoviou, P. Kassas, G. Vavougios, C. Hatzoglou, K. Gourgoulianis, S. Zarogiannis. **Self-reported risk of Obstructive Sleep Apnea syndrome, and awareness about**

it in the community of 4 insular complexes comprising 41 Greek Islands. Sleep Science 2022

• A. Samouilidis, E. Beltsios, G. Mavrovounis, A. Adamou, I. Belios, A. Hadjivasilis, I. Pantazopoulos, A. Agouridis. The use of antenatal dexamethasone in late preterm and term pregnancies to improve neonatal morbidity and mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Cureus 2022

Papers Submitted- Under Review

- I. Belios, T. Zhang, J. Oh, W. Jungraithmayr, S. Huber, P.C. Arck, A.D. Giannou* & D.E. Zazara*. Sexual dimorphism of lung-resident immunity is modulated via testosterone-dependent pathways. European Journal of immunology
- Zazara, O. Giannou, S. Schepanski, M. Pagenkemper, A.D. Giannou, I. Belios, M. Pincus, A.C. Muntau, K.Hecher, A. Diemert, MD & P.C. Arck. Fetal lung growth predicts the risk for early-life respiratory infections and childhood asthma. World Journal of pediatrics

Posters presentations in Conferences

- Adamou, S. Giannopoulos, C. Arvaniti, I. Belios, D. Dalampira, G. Eleftheriadis, T. Zinoviou, P. Kassas, G. Vavougios, C. Hatzoglou, K. Gourgoulianis, S. Zarogiannis. Cross sectional study of the risk for OSAS in the general population of 20 Greek Islands and assessment of the OSAS awareness. European Respiratory Society International Conference 2018, Paris, France.
- I. Belios, G. Eleftheriadis, T. Zinoviou, D. Dalampira, S. Giannopoulos, C. Arvaniti, A. Adamou, G. Vavougios, S. Zarogiannis. Bioinformatic analysis of AQP1 molecular mimicry and implications for autoimmune diseases. European Conference on Computational Biology 2018, Athens, Greece.
- P. Tasoudis, C. Arvaniti, A. Adamou, I. Belios, J. Stone, N. Horick, D. Sagris, G. Dalekos, G. Ntaios. Survival analysis of IL-6 inhibitors versus standard of care for COVID-19: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomized control trials. 20th European Congress of Internal Medicine (ECIM 2022) March 2022, Malaga, Spain
- D.E. Zazara & I. Belios, P.C. Arck Dissecting the role of local tissue microenvironment in sex-specific susceptibility to respiratory infections. 2nd Biennial Meeting Sex Differences in the Immune System, Dublin
- D.E. Zazara, I. Belios, T. Zhang, A.D. Giannou, P.C. Arck Sexual dimorphism of lung-resident innate immunity is modulated via testosterone-dependent pathways. Cell Symposia: Myeloid cells: From development to function and dysfunction June, 2023, Shanghai, China

Oral presentation in Conferences

 I. Belios, C. Urbschat, P. Wiemers, D. Zazara, P. Arck. Developmental origin of sex-specific differences in lung-resident immunity. World Congress of the International Society for Immunology of Reproduction (ISIR) 2023, Hamburg, Germany
- I. Belios, M. Spohn, M. Albrecht, N. Ledée, A. Wieczorek, A. Diemert, D. Zazara, P. Arck. Vertical transfer of maternal pathogen-specific antibodies in successive pregnancies and infection risk in infancy. World Congress of the International Society for Immunology of Reproduction (ISIR) 2023, Hamburg, Germany
- I. Belios, Christopher Urbschat, Pauline Wiemers, Anastasios D. Giannou, Dimitra E. Zazara, Petra C. Arck. Developmental origin of sex-specific differences in lung-resident immunity and respiratory infections. Joint meeting of American Physiological Society and Hellenic Society of Physiology 2023, Academy of Athens, Athens, Greece.
- Adamou, S. Giannopoulos, C. Arvaniti, I. Belios, D. Dalampira, G. Eleftheriadis, T. Zinoviou, P. Kassas, G. Vavougios, C. Hatzoglou, K. Gourgoulianis, S. Zarogiannis. Cross sectional study of the risk for OSAS in the general population of 20 Greek Islands and assessment of the OSAS awareness. Annual Panhellenic Respiratory Conference of Hellenic Thoracic Society 2018, Athens, Greece

OTHER SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITIES

Membership in Scientific Societies

- European Respiratory Society since 2018
- International Society for Immunology of Reproduction since 2023

KNOWLEDGE OF FOREIGN LANGUAGES

English: Level C2 German: Level B2

DISTINCTIONS-FELLOWSHIPS

- 2023 Journal of Reproductive immunology Best Basic Research Award in World conference of International society of reproductive immunology (500€)
- 2015 Cosmote Scholarships Program (15.000€)
- 2015 Eurobank "The great moment for education" (800€)

Contact

Phone: +49(0)17627333870 E-mail: i.belios@uke.de, ioannisbelios1997@gmail.com

10. Eidesstattliche Versicherung [als letztes Blatt in die Dissertation einzubinden]

Ich versichere ausdrücklich, dass ich die Arbeit selbständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und die aus den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen einzeln nach Ausgabe (Auflage und Jahr des Erscheinens), Band und Seite des benutzten Werkes kenntlich gemacht habe.

Ferner versichere ich, dass ich die Dissertation bisher nicht einem Fachvertreter an einer anderen Hochschule zur Überprüfung vorgelegt oder mich anderweitig um Zulassung zur Promotion beworben habe.

Ich erkläre mich einverstanden, dass meine Dissertation vom Dekanat der Medizinischen Fakultät mit einer gängigen Software zur Erkennung von Plagiaten überprüft werden kann.

Unterschrift: